THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

## FACING THE CHALLENGE OF SKIN PENETRATION – A STUDY ON LIPIDIC LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES FOR DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY

Hanne Evenbratt



Pharmaceutical Technology Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Göteborg, Sweden 2013

### FACING THE CHALLENGE OF SKIN PENETRATION – A STUDY ON LIPIDIC LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES FOR DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY

HANNE EVENBRATT

© HANNE EVENBRATT, 2013. ISBN 978-91-7385-874-8

Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers tekniska högskola Ny serie nr 3555 ISSN 0346-718X

Pharmaceutical Technology Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg Sweden Telephone + 46 (0) 31-772 10 00

Cover: Photograph of the gel-like cubic phase formulation (left), two-photon microscopy image of human *stratum corneum* with the autofluorescence in green and the added protein in red (middle), the cubic phase structure (right).

Chalmers Reproservice Gothenburg, Sweden 2013

#### FACING THE CHALLENGE OF SKIN PENETRATION – A STUDY ON LIPIDIC LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES FOR DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY Hanne Evenbratt Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering Chalmers University of Technology Gothenburg, Sweden

#### ABSTRACT

The skin is a barrier which protects us against daily attacks of foreign substances. From a pharmaceutical perspective it is also an interesting delivery route with its large surface and possibility to reach the blood stream circumventing first passage metabolism. With the varied size, structure etc. of active pharmaceutical substances, as well as the structure and function of the tissue, skin penetration is challenging.

The work included in this thesis mainly focus on exploring the lipid based cubic liquid crystalline phases as dermal drug delivery vehicles. Of particular interest has been systems based on glyceryl monooleyl ether (GME), while cubic phase containing glyceryl monooleate (GMO) and water was used as reference system. These lipids and cubic phases are very similar but an important difference is that GME requires a solvent to form a cubic phase in excess water while GMO does not. The cubic phases made of GME, are less studied but have potential to be effective dermal delivery vehicles. The phase behavior of the GME systems has been thoroughly investigated and the dermal delivery of active compounds from the cubic formulations evaluated. Examples of the methods used are small angle X-ray diffraction, *in vivo* fluorescence spectrophotometry, two photon microscopy, and high performance liquid chromatography.

The GME-based formulations showed to be as good as the GMO-based cubic phase for dermal delivery of small molecules. The cubic formulations significantly enhanced the delivery, both in amount and depth, compared to a commercial product. For larger molecules and nanoparticles, however, skin penetration was found only when a GMEbased cubic formulation was used as delivery vehicle.

Through combining all obtained results, a hypothesis of the dermal delivery mechanism was formed. The skin adherence and the occluding and hydrating effects of the formulations are important for effective delivery. However, the phase behavior of the formulations is also important to explain the mechanism. The GME-based cubic phase turns into a reversed hexagonal phase in excess water, whereas the GMO-based formulation maintains its cubic structure. This small but significant difference may be the reason for the difference in ability to deliver larger molecules and particles into skin.

**Keywords:** *liquid crystalline phases; cubic phase; reversed hexagonal phase; dermal drug delivery; glyceryl monooleat; glyceryl monooleyl ether; pentane-1,5-diol; propylene glycol; N-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone* 

This thesis is based on the following scientific papers, referred to by their Roman numerals in the text. The papers are appended at the end of the thesis.

Paper I.Effect of pentane-1,5-diol and propane-1,2-diol on<br/>percutaneous absorption of terbinafine<br/>Hanne Evenbratt, Jan Faergemann, Acta Dermato-Venereologica,<br/>2009, 89, 126-129

Paper II. Cubic and sponge phases formed in ternary ether lipidsolvent-water systems: Phase behavior and NMR characterization Hanne Evenbratt, Lars Nordstierna, Marica B. Ericson, Sven Engström, Langmuir, 2013, (Submitted)

Paper III. In vivo study of an instantly formed lipid-water cubic phase formulation for efficient topical delivery of aminolevulinic acid and methyl-aminolevulinate
Hanne Evenbratt, Charlotte Jonsson, Jan Faergemann, Sven Engström, Marica B. Ericson, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2013, 452, 270-275

Paper IV. Delivery of serum albumin from a cubic phase into viable epidermis studied by two-photon microscopy Hanne Evenbratt, Sven Engström, Marica B. Ericson, Pharmaceutical Research, 2013 (Submitted)

- Paper I.Performed main part of the experimental work and analyzed the<br/>results. Main author of the paper.
- **Paper II.** Shared responsibility with Engström for planning the experimental work and for analysis of the results. Main author of the paper.
- **Paper III.** Planned the experiments with Ericson and Engström. Performed the experimental work and data analysis. Main author of the paper.
- **Paper IV.** Planned the experiments with Ericson. Responsible for preparing all formulations and skin samples. Performed the microscopy work, the data analysis, and interpreted the results. Main author of the paper.

#### Published:

Design and characterization of a novel amphiphilic chitosan nanocapsulebased thermo-gelling biogel with sustained in vivo release of the hydrophilic anti-epilepsy drug ethosuximide

Hsiao MH, Larsson M, Larsson A, Evenbratt H, Chen YY, Chen YY, Liu DM, J Control Release. 2012, 161(3), 942-948.

## Effects of calcium, pH, and blockiness on kinetic rheological behavior and microstructure of HM pectin gels

Löfgren C, Guillotin S, Evenbratt H, Schols H, Hermansson AM, Biomacromolecules, 2005, 6(2), 646-652

#### **Relevant manuscripts:**

# Multiphoton induced luminescence from 10 nm gold nanoparticles – the effect of interparticle distance and aggregation

Guldbrand S, Evenbratt H, Borglin J, Kirejev V, Ericson MB, 2013, (Manuscript)

### **ABBREVIATIONS**

ALA	δ-aminolevulinic acid
AuNP	gold nanoparticles
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CARS	coherent anti-Stokes Raman Spectroscopy
CER	ceramides
CHOL	cholesterol
DP	dermal papillae
FFA	free fatty acids
GME	glyceryl monooleyl ether
GMO	glyceryl monooleate
HPLC	high-performance liquid cromatography
HSA	human serum albumin
MAL	methylaminolevulinate
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NMP	N-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NP	nanoparticles
PEG	polyethylene glycol
PG	propylene glycol
POL	pentane-1,5-diol
QD	quantum dots
SA	serum albumin
SAXD	small angle X-ray diffusion
SB	stratum basale
SC	stratum corneum
SPR	surface plasmon resonance
SS	stratum spinosum
TMR-BSA	tetramethyl rhodamine conjugated bovine serum albumin
TPM	two-photon microscopy

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	III
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	V
CONTRIBUTION REPORT	VI
PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE THESIS	VII
ABBREVIATIONS	IX
TABLE OF CONTENTS	X
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2 DERMAI DRUG DELIVERV	5
	5
2.1. DRUG DELIVERY TODAY 2.1.1 Delivery routes	5
2.1.1. Derivery routes	5
2.1.2. Active ingreatents in the formulations 2.2. The LAVEDED STRUCTURE OF THE SKIN	7
2.2. The EATERED STRUCTORE OF THE SKIN	11
2.2.1. The upper main in 2.2.2. Cells in enidermis	12
2.3. DERMAL DELIVERY METHODS	12
2.3.1. Limitations and possibilities	13
2.3.2. Formulation approaches	15
3. LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES IN DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY	23
3.1. LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES	23
3.1.1. Liquid crystalline phases in nature	25
3.1.2. Composing the liquid crystalline formulations	25
3.2. ACTIVE SUBSTANCES IN LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES	27
3.3. CUBIC PHASE FOR DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY	30
3.3.1. The cubic phase improving dermal drug delivery	31
3.3.2. The on demand cubic formulation	32
3.4. THE HYPOTHESIS: INTERACTION BETWEEN FORMULATION AND SKIN	33
4. RESEARCH METHODS AND ANALYSIS	37
4.1. ANALYZING LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES	37
4.1.1. Crossed polarizers	37
4.1.2. Small angle X-ray diffraction	38
4.1.3. Nuclear magnetic resonance	39
4.2. MODEL SYSTEMS	41
4.2.1. In vitro and ex vivo: diffusion cells	41
4.2.2. In vivo: trials for pharmacological response	42
4.3. ANALYTICAL METHODS	44
4.3.1. Laser scanning microscopy	44
4.3.2. Chemical analysis	50
5. RESULTS	53
5.1. PAPER I	53
Effect of pentane-1,5-diol and propane-1,2-diol on percutaneous absorption of terbinafine	53
5.2. Paper II	54

Cubic and sponge phases formed in ternary ether lipid-solvent-water systems: Phase beh	avior
and NMR characterization	54
5.3. PAPER III	55
In vivo study of an instantly formed lipid-water cubic phase formulation for efficient to	opical
delivery of aminolevulinic acid and methyl-aminolevulinate	55
5.4. PAPER IV	57
Delivery of serum albumin from a cubic phase into viable epidermis studied by two-p	hoton
microscopy	57
5.5. WORK IN PROGRESS	58
Overcoming the skin barrier for nanoparticles using nano-structured cubic lipid systems	58
Visualizing dermal absorption of lipid cubic phase formulation for understanding dermal	drug
delivery: a Coherent anti-Stokes Raman Spectroscopy study	59
6. CONCLUSION	63
7. FUTURE OUTLOOK	65
8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	67
9. REFERENCES	71

### INTRODUCTION

In this thesis, I strive to put the research into a wider context and to create a knowledge platform for a discussion of my results. However, the reason for the project and the main research questions are most easily explained through a specific story.

The story begins at the department of dermatology at Sahlgrenska University Hospital, where Professor Jan Faergemann found out that an interesting antimycotic diol (pentane-1,5-diol, POL) was able to enhance dermal drug delivery. POL had previously not been used for skin formulations and Jan wanted to investigate the enhancing qualities of the substance further.

Meanwhile, at pharmaceutical technology, Chalmers University of Technology, Professor Sven Engström and his PhD -students were working with liquid crystalline phases, both characterizing them and investigating their abilities as drug delivery vehicles. During this research they came in contact with Associate Professor Marica Ericson who has extensive knowledge of advanced imaging techniques and their use for investigating skin diseases such as cancer. In a joint project they examined the use of the cubic phase as a drug delivery vehicle in photodynamic therapy (PDT), a treatment method for superficial forms of skin cancer. They found that the cubic phase significantly enhanced the diffusion of active substance into the cells. However, there were problems encountered, for example both the drug and the formulation had stability issues.

Through the center for skin research (SkinResQU) in Gothenburg, Jan, Sven and Marica met one another. By combining their separate questions and competences a new research project was born and I started my PhD studies.

My work started with comparing POL with the known permeation enhancer propylene glycol (PG) for increased delivery of terbinafine to the upper skin layers (paper I). POL showed to be an efficient permeation enhancer in the hydrogel used as a delivery vehicle, and as POL is an apolar diol it was also of interest as a component in liquid crystalline phases. Liquid crystalline phases are molecularly ordered structures which can be formed by polar lipids, such as, glyceryl monooleate (GMO) and glyceryl monooleyl ether (GME) in presence of water. GMO forms a cubic phase in excess water while GME and water results in the reversed hexagonal phase. An apolar solvent can be used to reach specific liquid crystalline phases to, for example, form the cubic phase in the GME-water system. Included in this work were two different types of cubic formulations in excess water, the well-known GMO-water based system and the less investigated GME-solvent-water based system. The phase behavior of two systems composed of the lipid GME, water, and one of the solvents POL or N-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP) was thoroughly investigated (paper II).

With a commercial interest, improved versions of the delivery system for use in PDT were sought and found in the combination of GME, water, and POL or PG. By exchanging the lipid of the cubic phase formerly used and including one of the solvents, the stability issues of the previous system were solved and an on demand cubic formulation was obtained. The diffusion of the active substances from the formulation into skin tissue was investigated *in vivo* and showed good results (paper III). Despite the good results the commercialization process was terminated so that publication of the work was enabled.

In order to find out how effective this formulation is for dermal delivery, protein (bovine serum albumin, BSA) and nano-particles (quantum dots, QD, and gold nanoparticles, AuNP) were tested as model drugs. When AuNP in cubic formulation were applied to the skin and analyzed using two-photon microscopy (TPM), the particles could not be detected due to optical phenomena. This led to a digression into technical and physical aspects of the occurrences. However, other nano-sized particles and protein could be found within the skin when the solvent containing on demand formulations were used (paper IV).

As can be seen from the contents of the research described, there has been a clear goal to enhance dermal drug delivery by exploring cubic formulations as a delivery system. However, it is of course also important to understand the underlying mechanisms of the interaction between formulation and skin. In order to find even more clues to this puzzle, an attempt was made to locate the lipids of the formulation among the lipids of the skin and thus coherent anti-

Stokes Rahman spectroscopy (CARS) was employed. The results showed that GME penetrated around the cells and was in part found as droplet-shaped depots within the tissue.

The results obtained in the different studies all contributed to the formation of a hypothesis regarding the dermal drug delivery mechanism. The cubic phase formulations are very similar in most aspects. However, the phase behavior and the ability to deliver larger molecules and particles differ. The postulated hypothesis takes both similarities and differences into account and will be further discussed in Chapter 3.4.

However, prior to this, the research field is described through the description of, for example, the skin structure and function and dermal drug delivery in Chapter 2. With these facts in mind the reasons for choosing the nano-structured cubic phase as a delivery vehicle are revealed. The configurations of the liquid crystalline phases are presented, as well as their relation to each other. Further, the phases as carriers of active substance are described, where after the combination of cubic formulation, pharmaceuticals and skin are tied together (Chapter 3). Throughout the work a number of techniques have been used for assessment. These are described in Chapter 4. Lastly, the thesis is concluded by presenting the results of the performed studies and the impact of them on the hypothesis, followed by future research ideas (Chapter 5-7).

## DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY This chapter deals with skin structure and functions as well as the delivery of active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) into the skin tissue. In order to be able to suggest a delivery mechanism these are important areas to have knowledge about.

#### 2.1. DRUG DELIVERY TODAY

#### 2.1.1. DELIVERY ROUTES

Anyone in our modern society who has ever had a cold or any kind of illness has used pharmaceuticals of some sort. The most common administration routes for drug delivery, depicted in Figure 1, are oral, pulmonary (via the lungs), parenteral (piercing skin or mucus membranes), and topical (via body surfaces; skin or mucus membranes such as vagina, anus, throat, eyes, nose, ears). There are a number of reasons why a certain route and a certain formulation is chosen for a specific drug. Firstly, it must be decided if the drug should have a local or a systemic effect. Secondly, physical and chemical properties of both the drug and the additives must be understood and addressed as well as factors influencing drug absorption and release [1, 2].

Here the focus lies on dermal drug delivery which is a part of the fourth route mentioned – the topical route. The term dermal delivery is often confused with transdermal delivery. However, throughout this text dermal delivery will be referred to for delivery into the skin tissue while transdermal delivery enables penetration through the skin and into the blood stream.

Dermal delivery typically has a very high patient compliance [3]. The few occurring side effects can normally be circumvented simply by changing administration site [4, 5]. Although the delivery may at times be both poor and erratic, it can be controlled and sustained over a prolonged period of time [6] and with more research the drug delivery is improving. The large variability in

tissue thickness and permeability between individuals, and more importantly between healthy and diseased skin can cause problems with regard to drug delivery [7]. Topical delivery is often used to achieve a local effect, but it is also possible to aim for systemic uptake. As with injections and inhalation, the first passage effect is circumvented and, additionally, the drug application is easy and pain free [1].



Figure 1 Schematic image showing examples of drug delivery routes.

#### 2.1.2. ACTIVE INGREDIENTS IN THE FORMULATIONS

Current active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) tend to have larger, more complex, and less soluble molecular structures. This, of course, must be dealt with. One method is to turn the drug into a salt. This can also help stabilizing an easily degradable drug, for example a protein [8].

The formulations holding the drug must be able to contain and deliver the API, regardless of their respective difficulties and chosen delivery route. If the galenic approach is chosen wisely the drug can be aided to work as efficiently as possible. In topical treatment this is particularly difficult, as the main focus is to get the drug through the tissue. In paper III-IV dermal delivery of a highly degradable substance and large molecules are handled. This will also be discussed further in Chapter 3.2.

When comparing and interpreting dermal delivery data obtained in different studies it is important to be aware of the possible variations in methodology,

including type of equipment used, skin temperature, and skin treatment [9]. Caution is of great importance as is a substantial knowledge about skin structure and function. The skin structure and function also comes in to play when designing a well working topical drug delivery system.

#### 2.2. THE LAYERED STRUCTURE OF THE SKIN

If you look down at the hands holding this thesis you will see skin. Depending on your size, you are covered with around  $1.5-2 \text{ m}^2$  of the tissue. For long the skin was regarded as nothing more than what keeps our insides in place, but as research took off, our largest organ proved to have fascinating features. The skin is a barrier against environmental attacks such as UV radiation, chemicals and microbiological factors. Additionally, one of our five senses is located in the skin: the ability to feel pain or the slightest touch both protects us and increases the quality of life. Furthermore, controlling the amount of internal water and body temperature is maintained by the skin. Also worth mentioning, the essential vitamin D is here produced in a photo-driven reaction [10].



Figure 2 A schematic illustration of the skin and its layers.

The skin is divided into three main layers: epidermis, dermis, and subcutis (Figure 2). Each layer has functions of its own. For warmth and comfort, the fatty tissue of the subcutaneous layer provides insulation and padding. Subcutis is located closest to the muscle tissue with dermis on the outside. Dermis provides elasticity to the skin through collagen and elastic fibers, and contains for example, nerve cells, hair follicles, and glands (see Figure 2). Epidermis forms the skin surface and prevents water loss. Because of this vital function it is also the most prominent obstacle in transdermal drug delivery. Thus, it is the most important to understand in order to solve the obstacles encountered when administering APIs via the skin.

Epidermis is divided into layers based on keratinocyte cell differentiation: stratum basale (SB), stratum spinosum (SS), stratum granulosum (SG) and stratum corneum (SC). Figure 3 [11] illustrates the different skin layers both as a schematic drawing and as two-photon microscopy (TPM) images (further detail regarding the methodology will presented in Chapter 4.3.). In SB the keratinocyte cells are formed and they migrate towards the skin surface becoming flatter the further out they get. When the keratinocyte cells have lost their nucleus, once they reach SC, they are referred to as corneocytes. At the surface these cells are dead and eventually peel off leaving room for the cells following in a slow but never-ending migration of cells [10].



Figure 3 Two-photon microscopy images of normal skin. SC (0 mm), SS (15 mm), SB (30 mm), dermal papillae (DP) (45 mm), and dermis (75 mm) are visualized (images published with permission [11]). Below figure: a schematic illustration of depth location of the respective layers.

The structure of SC is often compared to a brick wall, where the corneocytes are the bricks and the lipids surrounding them the mortar [12]. The main lipids forming the mortar are ceramides (CER), cholesterol (CHOL) and free fatty acids (FFA) (Figure 3b), composed in such a defined way that alterations can affect membrane integrity [13-19]. This composition is not found in many other biological membranes, especially as it practically lacks phospholipids [20]. The complexity of the lipid matrix is indicated in the fact that more than 300 species of ceramides alone have been identified therein [21]. How the lipids are organized is a complex matter, but in the late 1980s and early 1990s, it was concluded that there is an ordered structure [22-24] and that different fractions of the lipids can be found in both a liquid and solid state [19, 23, 25-29].

In 1994, Forslind presented the "domain mosaic model" which suggests that the lipid matrix is composed of lipid moieties mainly in the crystalline/gel state with a small amount of fluid state lipids between these domains [25]. This model is an interesting starting point for the hypothesis presented later (Chapter 3.4.). It has been shown that the main part of the SC lipids is rigid at 32°C with a small amount of fluid lipids present [30]. Lamellar and reversed hexagonal liquid crystalline phases have been found to exist [31], and by influencing the borders of the rigid parts, for instance by hydration or diffusion of solvents, other phase changes may occur. However, it is important to stress that the lipid matrix is an important part of the skin barrier properties with a structure hindering substance migration [19, 32].

Recently the group of Norlén and coworkers published a study of the SC matrix structure using mainly cryo-electron microscopy. They found that the lipid bilayers are a stacked structure of fully extended ceramides with cholesterol associated to specific parts [15]. The presence of alternating hydrophilic head groups and hydrophobic alkyl chains in this crystalline-like (gel-like) pattern would result in a matrix principally impermeable to water, as well as hydrophobic and hydrophilic substances [19, 32]. It would also result in the possibility for layers to slide against each other to some extent, thus maintaining the barrier while providing flexibility [15].

#### **Related facts box – Skin dimensions**

It can be hard to relate to the tiny sizes and dimensions of the skin, so let us put them into perspective!

The upper part of the skin consists of, in average, 10 layers of cells which are roughly 1  $\mu$ m high and 40-50  $\mu$ m long [33]. Seen from the side, in cross section, it looks like the bricks in a brick wall (see Figure 2 above), though much longer and flatter. All around the cells, like mortar, we have the lipid matrix which is about 35 nm thick [15].



Figure 4 One km of road E20 surrounded by refrigerators envisions the dimensions of one cell and the lipid matrix in SC.

Let us stop there and imagine the following: Pretend that the cells are as wide (~20 m) and long as one km of road E20 (of the Europe international E-road network). Then fancy the lipid matrix as a lot of refrigerators lined up on the edge of the road (See Figure 4). Now, stack the part of road, with refrigerators around, like a brick wall and you may find it easier to relate to the dimensions of the SC skin structure... hopefully S

#### 2.2.1. THE LIPID MATRIX

As this lipid matrix plays such an important role in the dermal drug delivery and possibly in the interaction between the cubic formulations and skin (paper IV and Chapter 3.3.), I wish to further discuss the sizes and structure of this barrier.

In Figure 5 we see some of the results from the work of Iwai et al. [15]. From the top down: the lipid matrix between cells in SC, the distances of the repeating units within the matrix, and a schematic model of how the CER, CHOL and FFAs are situated to build this structure.



Figure 5 The SC lipid matrix as depicted by Iwai et al. (a, published with permission [15]) and examples of the molecular structure of a CER, CHOL and FFA (b, from the top down).

The lipid matrix is shown as lamellar regions with 2-12 dark lines, 6 lines on average. This would imply that the thickness (or height) of the matrix would be between  $\sim$ 10-60 nm. As anything passing in or out of the skin must pass this lipidic continuum, the dimension of it is important. Moreover, the bilayered

organization of the lipid matrix helps to reduce the permeability over the membrane [34], in other words this polar - non-polar - polar molecular composition in gel state forms an efficient barrier structure.

The schematic model depicted in Figure 5 is based on a bare minimum of molecules, indicating that if all the CER, CHOL and FFAs existing in SC were included, the structure of the lipid matrix would most likely be less compact and more adaptable. One interesting aspect of this is that only a small amount of fluid lipid added to gel-like parts of a bilayer alters the permeability [34].

The water transport through our skin is vital and the trans-epidermal water loss is  $\sim$ 250 ml/day for adults. At normally hydrated conditions the lipid matrix is winding between the cells. At increased hydration, however, water causes the cells to swell and the lipid matrix is thus flattened. The thickness of the lipid continuum seems unaffected indicating no increase of water therein [15].

#### 2.2.2. Cells in epidermis

The second most abundant cells in epidermis, after keratinocytes/corneocytes, are the Langerhans cells. The Langerhans cells are potent antigen-presenting cells that are part of the immunological surveillance and effector system in our bodies. These cells can be of importance for the work presented in paper IV, as proteins delivered into the skin may be further transported to the immune system by the Langerhans cells. The cells that produce the pigment melanin are called melanocytes. Melanocytes protect the nucleus of basal keratinocytes from UV radiation. Merkel cells are sensory receptors that are in contact with nerve fibers in the dermal skin layer [1, 10].

#### 2.3. DERMAL DELIVERY METHODS

Historically, skin diseases have been treated using herbal medicines with different outcomes. Some of the ancient knowledge has been forgotten and some reinvented, but when it comes to modern formulations for systemic treatment it took until 1979 to get a product out on the market. It started with a patch for motion sickness (Transderm Scop) and continued with pain relief,

hormone treatments and nicotine cessation. Recently, the focus has shifted more towards treating, for example, Alzheimer's, Parkinson's and dementia using the transdermal administration route [35, 36].

Drugs within the classical dermal delivery boundaries (see Table 1) are most often incorporated into hydrophobic ointments or semi-solid emulsions such as creams and gels [1]. The latter examples are just as often used in cosmetic applications making the penetrative abilities of the active ingredient somewhat questionable. Cosmetic products can moisturize the skin and treat superficial problems, for example, making the line between pharmaceutics and cosmetics unclear in some cases. Also, formulation ingredients used as penetration enhancers in a pharmaceutical system can be used as moisturizer in a cosmetic product. One interesting example, which is relevant for the work presented here, is propylene glycol (PG). PG is frequently used in both cosmetics and pharmaceuticals. It has even been used on its own to treat dandruff and various other skin issues such as fungi infections and inflammations due to its humectant and antibacterial properties [37]. However, it is the final delivery result that decides if the product will be approved and not the included components (as long as they are within regulations).

Dermal drug delivery can appear to be a simple form of treatment at first glance. Though a closer assessment reveals that a proper dermatological design is one of the most challenging tasks to tackle within the galenic formulation field [1]. The complex nature of the skin and the fact that it is a barrier protecting our bodies against any outer attack ensures that there will be numerous difficulties to conquer in order to achieve a well-functioning formulation.

#### 2.3.1. LIMITATIONS AND POSSIBILITIES

With regards to the properties of the substance to be delivered, there are some traditional guidelines that are recommended to follow in order to successfully deliver the drug into the skin. These boundaries, summarized in Table 1, might not always be valid [35] but can at least provide a good starting point.

Partition coefficient	$1 < \log K_{o/w} < 3$
Molecular weight	< 500 Da
Melting point	< 200 °C
Daily dose	< 10 mg
Solubility (H <sub>2</sub> O)	> 1 mg/ml
рН	5-9

Table 1 Traditional limitations and boundaries for transdermal drug delivery

Research is important in order to increase the possibilities for transdermal delivery. For example, one of the limitations mentioned in Table 1 is the size of the molecules that can be delivered transdermally. This is a difficult obstacle to address [36]. However, in our research we found that by using the instantly formed lipid-water based cubic formulation (presented in detail in Chapter 3.3.2.) as a delivery vehicle, larger APIs (5 – 20 nm) may be transported into the tissue (paper IV). Both nanoparticles and a model protein (bovine serum albumin, BSA) were delivered into viable epidermis (paper IV and Chapter 5.5.). Thus, despite the very real barriers and boundaries, a suitable formulation may be a solution to the problem.

The formulation can have different delivery aims depending on what API will be administered. An active substance treating the skin itself should stay in the outer layers of the skin. It is possible to achieve a depot effect and thus provide a prolonged release, which has been seen for the cubic phase [38]. Such a depot can also induce a systemic effect over time.

In transdermal delivery the drug must reach deeper into the tissue. The pharmaceutical concentration is very high at the application site on the skin surface and very low or non-existing further in. There is much blood present deep in the skin acting as sink for the diffusing molecules. The effect of this is a high epidermal concentration gradient driving a percutaneous absorption [1].

The possible ways for the drug to move into the skin is limited, as well as debated. One pathway is through the lipid matrix surrounding the cells [39]. Here the fluid parts of the lipid matrix are crucial for enabling transport of lipophilic and amphiphilic substances, as discussed above. A second route is

more resistant but possible and leads through lipidic parts of cell membranes. Further, a transcellular pathway is also considered but has been questioned and regarded unlikely by some as the transported substance must pass in and out of water and lipid rich regions [40, 41]. Finally, a combination of these pathways is also likely depending on the drug, the formulation and the skin tissue [42]. In other words, restricting the route to, for instance, only the lipid domains might be unreasonable due to the very small space [43]. The water rich skin cells, corneocytes, are enclosed within so-called cornified envelopes consisting of cross-linked proteins with a monolayer of lipids linked to it [44]. Between the cells the lipid matrix is the only continuum and hence, beyond question, all molecules passing in or out of the skin must pass this lipid domain sooner or later [42, 45-47]. To some extent, hair follicles can also be a possible way in to the skin [48] but from the bottom of the follicle the drug must still be transported further to be of therapeutic use elsewhere.

#### 2.3.2. FORMULATION APPROACHES

The historically most common dermal formulation approach is to use oil, emulsifier and water (o/w, w/o, etc.), and thus obtain emulsions such as creams and lotions [1, 49]. Interestingly there are often no differences between formulations with a pharmaceutical aim and cosmetic products. As an example, liposomes and lipid nanoparticles are used in cosmetic products and were actually first found on the cosmetic market before they were used aiming to dermally deliver drugs [50]. This is quite a contradiction because the medical formulations need to deliver the drug into the skin tissue while cosmetics are not allowed to enter the body [1, 49]. An effective dermal delivery, based on the same systems as are present in a cosmetic product, thus seems unlikely.

A lot of research focuses on enhancing the skin permeation in a number of different ways. Table 2 lists some of the more widely used methods of which a few (Figure 6) will be explained below in order to paint a clearer picture of the field of dermal drug delivery.

Methods	Examples
Electrical	Iontophoresis, Electroporation
Mechanical	Microneedles, suction, stretching
Other device-dependent	Ultrasound, temperature changes, laser, patches
Chemical	Enhancers, lipid-based vehicles, water gradient changes

Table 2 Methods for dermal drug delivery enhancement.

#### 2.3.2.1 MECHANICAL METHODS

The effects of electric current applied to skin for treating diseases or relieving pain have been recognized for at least 5,000 years when electrical eels were used for this purpose [51]. The techniques have been developed since then and used in a wide variety of pharmaceutical applications. For dermal delivery of drugs iontophoresis is one recent example. In iontophoresis a power source and two electrode compartments drive ionized drug molecules into the skin, as shown in Figure 6a. The device is connected to the skin, and once the current is applied the positive charges in the anodal compartment move towards the cathode and the anions move in the opposite direction. As the only way to move is through the skin the drugs are forced into the tissue [52].

Microneedles are considered a mechanical method of administration. They are minimally invasive and are being developed in different materials and with different delivery strategies. The main application has been to make microscopic holes in the skin and then apply a transdermal patch or other drug container to the perforated area. Sometimes iontophoresis are used in combination with microneedles. The drug can be located in cavities within the needles, the tips can be dipped in drug solution, or the drug can be incorporated in biodegradable needles so that when piercing the skin or when the needles break down the drug is released (see Figure 6c) [53].

Sonophoresis uses ultrasound to enhance transdermal transport of various drugs through, for example, heating and skin disruption (Figure 6b). Ultrasound has been used in different frequency ranges, but it has been found that low frequencies (<100kHz) are more effective in drug delivery than higher frequencies [54].



Figure 6 Schematic illustration of device driven dermal drug delivery showing (a) iontophoresis with delivery electrode and counter electrode, (b) sonification, (c) microneedles, (d) and a drug delivery patch.

#### 2.3.2.2. NON-INVASIVE METHODS

Patches are often combined with other techniques such as those used after iontophoresis or as a micro-needle array patch [55, 56], but a lot of resources are spent on improving the patch itself. Patches are becoming more and more important in transdermal drug delivery. The traditional components in a patch are a liner, drug reservoir of some sort, adhesive, membrane, and backing (Figure 6d). Some patches include all of these parts and some do not, but either way all are developed to hold and deliver the API and to make the skin more susceptible to the it [56]. Today, besides the previously mentioned patch for motion sickness, there are patches for nicotine delivery and pain relief, for instance. Moreover, specific diseases are being targeted such as Alzheimer's [57] and Parkinson's [58], additionally patches are developed for vaccine delivery [55].

There are a number of classical non-invasive formulations such as ointments, creams, pastes, gels, suspensions, and solutions, which merely work for molecules within the boundaries presented in Table 1. When aiming for increased dermal delivery of anything else high demands are placed on the formulation. In the previous section invasive methods were presented. However, there are a number of down-sides of using these methods, including mechanically disrupting the skin surface, high manufacturing expenses, drug

degradation during storage or production [52, 59]. Therefore, it would be desirable to find less invasive delivery methods that are still effective.

One interesting group of formulations is the nanostructured lipid based liquid crystalline systems (further discussed in Chapter 3), which can have, for example, adhesive features, be engineered to provide sustained delivery, and can contain a wide variety of drugs [60-63]. Thus, these formulations can be good candidates for dermal drug delivery [61, 62, 64-67].

The consistency of a dermal formulation should be acceptable to the user and stay in place in order to interact with the skin and efficiently deliver the API. Some liquid crystalline phases fill these criteria better than others. The gel-like phases such as cubic and reversed hexagonal have better application qualities than the less viscous formulations such as lamellar and sponge phase. Furthermore, from a drug release view the cubic phase has a faster release rate than the reversed hexagonal one.

Moreover, because of the skin structure, any vesicle able to penetrate must be deformable and fluid in the lipid bilayers [68]. Delivery vehicle interaction with the skin lipids can influence a phase change so that more of the solid lipid sections of the intercellular matrix become fluid, thus enabling enhanced molecular diffusion [69].

The liquid crystalline phases can be formed into small, nanosized particles: liposomes, hexosomes and cubosomes [64, 70]. The drugs are incorporated into these vesicles. Still not many reach a sufficient administration level via the dermal delivery route [71-75], inducing a call for continued research and development thereof. There are a number of reviews written that discuss these types of drug delivery systems [17, 68, 76, 77].

Liposomes are the most frequently used of the ones mentioned and a lot of research concerns this formulation. It is often made of phospholipid bilayers shaped as closed spherical shells with a hydrophilic center where pharmaceuticals can be kept during drug delivery and storage. The liposomes are being developed to suit a wide variety of drug delivery pathways, with more or less efficient results.

An example of a type of liposome that has received a lot of attention is the socalled transfersomes. Transfersomes have a high elasticity and can endure deformation [78-82]. The patent holders claim that the flexibility of the particles makes them superior to other nano-particulate formulations. The transfersomes have been claimed to move deeper into the partly hydrated skin layers than similar vesicles [78]. However, it has been considered unlikely that the vesicles stay intact during transdermal drug delivery. It was recently shown that they do rupture [83], though a depot effect in the upper skin layers may be possible [17]. Examples of what these vesicles have been tested for are malaria treatment [84], cancer treatment [85], and as vaccine delivery vehicles [86], with varied results.

#### 2.3.2.3. PENETRATION ENHANCEMENT

Most dermal delivery formulations and patches include penetration enhancers. There are a number of possible different ones to use. Many of these enhancers disrupt the intercellular lipid matrix of SC, either by increasing the fluidity and thus facilitating diffusion of the drug or by forming alternate areas within the bilayer structure [87]. The penetration enhancers should be non-toxic and non-irritating, as well as without any pharmacological activity in itself. They should work rapidly and in a predictable way, as well as being a shield against loss of endogenous material while delivering the drug. When it is removed from the skin the barrier properties should rapidly return to the original structure.

No perfect enhancer has yet been discovered but some fulfill more of these criterion than others. Examples of enhancers or groups of enhancers are water, sulphoxides and similar chemicals, azone, pyrrolidones, fatty acids, alcohols, fatty alcohols and glycols, surfactants, urea, essential oils, terpenes and terpenoids, phospholipids, and solvents at high concentrations [88].

Three different penetration enhancers (not counting water) have been included in our studies: propylene glycol (PG), pentane-1,5-diol (POL), and N-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP) (molecular structures are shown in Figure 7). Depending on the use of the substances, which here are mentioned as penetration enhancers, different epithets can be used to present them.



Diols, such as PG and POL, are generally used as solvents or as anti-freezing agents but some have also been utilized as vehicles in pharmaceutical preparations [37, 89-92]. PG is the only diol widely used in dermatology [37, 91], as it reduces the drug – tissue binding and has keratolytic properties, thus promoting permeation of the drug [49, 87, 93].

Figure 7 Molecular structure of PG, POL and NMP from top down.

POL is not commonly used in pharmaceuticals, although it has been shown to be cosmetically acceptable and presents little risk for toxicity or skin and eye irritation relative to other diols [94, 95]. It is also an effective solvent, enhancer, water binding substance, antimicrobial agent, and preservative [91, 95] and may therefore replace several ingredients in a skin composition. Today, POL is mainly used as a plasticizer in cellulose products and adhesives, in dental composites and in brake fluid compositions, and as a preservative for grain [90]. However, in recent years POL has been investigated as a dermal delivery enhancer with positive results (paper I, [95]) and can be used in dermal formulations.

NMP is a somewhat questioned solvent used pharmaceutically to solubilize drug substances [96] and when studying *in situ* implant systems [97]. There have been uncertainties whether NMP causes irritations of the upper airways and eyes. A recent study of the chemosensory effects of NMP in human males found no evidence that this was the case [97]. Industrial uses include polyvinyl pyrrolidone production and use as a paint remover.

#### 2.3.2.4. OCCLUSION

Another way of increasing the delivery is to apply an occlusive dressing covering the treated area. For example, in paper I the treated mice were covered

with impermeable plastic film over the area applied with formulation. Occlusion decreases the water gradient across SC, not allowing the water migrating out to leave the skin surface. Thus, the hydration of the outermost skin layers increase and dermal drug delivery is facilitated.

According to Björklund et al. [46], the skin barrier can be temporarily opened by controlling the water gradient across the skin; the hydration of the skin can rearrange the structure within the SC lipid matrix as the structure depends on the surroundings [98]. In this way the concentration gradient can induce a change in the barrier properties causing phase changes and thus affecting the transport into the skin, that is the chemical potential can drive the diffusion motion [34, 99]. Moreover, increasing both the hydration and temperature of the membrane induces lipid mobility and results in increased amount of fluid state lipids, enhancing permeability further [30, 31, 34]. These alterations in lipid organization and barrier properties are also influenced by the skin pH gradient. The inside of our body consists of neutral pH while the skin surface is acidic, providing additional protection from permeation [100].

#### 2.3.2.5. DIFFUSION

For all non-mechanical delivery methods the delivery capacity of the formulation depends on the affinity for the SC environment for formulation and drug, and of the concentration gradient. The formulations and drug can be altered to enhance the partition into SC to some extent with the aid of solvents as previously discussed. However, further transport depends on the concentration gradient, in other words the passive diffusion, which is the rate-limiting step. Fick's law (equation 1) can also be used to calculate the diffusion parameters in these systems. The law states that the rate of diffusion across a membrane is inversely related to the thickness of the membrane and directly proportional to the concentration gradient of the substance on the two sides of the membrane.

$$\frac{dm}{dt} \cdot \frac{1}{A} = \frac{KDC_0}{h} \tag{1}$$

where *m* is the cumulative mass of diffusing drug, *t* is the time, *A* the area applied with formulation, *K* the partition coefficient of the API between formulation and skin, *D* the diffusion coefficient of the API in the membrane,  $C_0$  the constant concentration of drug in the formulation (i.e., the amount of API is so much higher in the formulation compared to the diffusing amount that it can be considered constant), and *h* the thickness of the skin. For skin and other complex biological membranes it can be difficult to separate *D* and *K*. In such cases the permeability coefficient (*P*) may be more useful (see equation 2)

$$P = KD \tag{2}$$

[1]

Calculating the diffusion parameters can be a good way to, for example compare the delivery capacity of different formulations, the SC affinity of different drugs, or to compare different membranes (e.g. animal, human, and artificial skin).

# 3 LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES IN DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY

#### 3.1. LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES

Lipids and other amphiphilic molecules self-assemble [101, 102] into compositions of various kinds of micellar structures or phases in an aqueous environment when they reach a certain critical micellization concentration [103]. At higher concentrations liquid crystals are formed by polar lipids, such as GMO or GME, and water, where both components diffuse freely [104]. What structure is formed depends on the polar/non-polar shape of the lipid, and on the amount of water present. Water hydrates the polar head groups of the molecules through hydrogen bonding while the tails uses van der Waals forces to stay together [105].

Depicted in Figure 8 is a three component phase diagram. Each point in this diagram represents a certain weight percentage of the three components. A vial containing such a mixture may show one, two, or three phases (see further Chapter 4.1.). The one-phase areas that can be formed are marked in the figure. Those are hexagonal (H<sub>2</sub>), lamellar (L<sub> $\alpha$ </sub>), cubic (I<sub>2</sub>), sponge (L<sub>3</sub>) and liquid (L) (see Figure 8), though the so-called sponge and liquid phases are not liquid crystals. Additionally, reversed forms of the hexagonal and cubic phases can form. These exist when the polar head groups face towards the enclosed water. In the phase diagrams, published within the scope of this thesis, the reversed forms are present (paper II). The transition between phases is driven by either enthalpy or entropy [106, 107].

The hexagonal phase consists of lipid tubes with water within or around, depending if it is a reversed structure or not. Lipid bilayer sheets with water between them define the lamellar phase. The sponge phase is not a true liquid crystalline phase but is best described as a swelled, melted cubic phase. The cubic phase is quite complex and consists of a  $\sim$ 3-4 nm thick lipid bilayer continuum traversed by two independent water channel networks of

approximately 5 nm diameter [108-111]. Adding to this, there can be different space groups formed within the cubic phase area based on minimal surfaces. In these systems the gyroid (g), diamond (d) and Schwartz's Primitive surface (p) can form. The two which can form in the systems included in this thesis, d and g, are shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8 The GME-POL-water phase diagram and examples of liquid crystalline phase structures. Letters denotes: liquid phase, L; lamellar phase,  $L_{\alpha}$ ; reversed hexagonal phase,  $H_2$ ; cubic phase,  $I_{2}$ ; and sponge phase,  $L_3$ .

The cubic phases, which are the main focus in this thesis, were discovered in the early 1960s by three groups independently [112-114]. Much were still to be clarified though and a decade later, with the use of nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and small angle X-ray diffraction (SAXD), new results were combined with the old so that the true structure of the cubic phase could be identified (for a comprehensive review see [115]).
The cubic phase structure provides some interesting and noteworthy properties that come in handy for many applications, as we shall see later: (i) it forms spontaneously, (ii) has a gel like texture, and (iii) has a high lipid bilayer/water interfacial area of ~400-600 m<sup>2</sup>/g lipid [108, 110, 116].

Sometimes a solvent, aprotic preferably, is needed for certain phases to form [101, 117, 118]. Depending on how effective the solvating capacity of the solvent is, the phases can be formed from a narrow or wide range of component ratios and the phase diagrams alter accordingly.

# 3.1.1. LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES IN NATURE

In nature, lipid bilayers (and liquid crystalline phases) are found in abundance, as it is present in every cell. Focusing merely on cubic structures, important examples in nature are: the golgi apparatus, the endoplasmic reticulum, infolding of plasma membranes, and mitochondrial membranes during inactivity [103, 119, 120]. The lipid processes and phase shifting are believed to be very important for the cells. Signal transduction and inter- and intracellular trafficking may be governed by lateral segregation of lipids and switching between phases [103, 119-123].

Moreover, lipid crystalline structures have been found within the lipid matrix of the skin [31, 124]. The lipids in SC are uncharged and relatively non-polar, contrary to the lipids forming the flexible liquid crystalline phases. Nonetheless, the liquid crystalline phases are very similar to the lipid matrix in SC [125]. The natural occurrence of the liquid crystalline phases and the shown efficiency when used as drug delivery vehicles makes it an interesting formulation to use for topical, and other, applications.

#### 3.1.2. COMPOSING THE LIQUID CRYSTALLINE FORMULATIONS

It is possible to form the liquid crystalline phases from a number of lipids, with or without solvent, in the presence of water. In the scope of this thesis, however, the materials of interest for forming the cubic phases are the polar lipids, glyceryl monooleate (GMO), and glyceryl monooleyl ether (GME) together with water, and sometimes an aprotic solvent, PG, POL or NMP (for details see paper II). GMO has been widely used in studies of these systems. It is derived through esterification of oleic acid, glycerol or refined vegetable oils [126] but are also formed endogenously in small amounts in the intestine during oil digestion [127]. GME (or selachyl alcohol) is the ether analogue of GMO and is found in nature in, shark-liver oil, for example. This lipid has several medical effects such as antibacterial and antifungal, as well as being an immunological stimulus [128].



Figure 9 Molecular structures of GME (top) and GMO (bottom).

The molecular structures of GME and GMO are very similar, as illustrated in Figure 9. The carbonyl oxygen differentiates the lipids, which alters the phase behavior when in excess water: GMO forms a cubic phase and GME a reversed hexagonal phase [117, 129]. Aprotic solvents such as PG, POL or NMP, when mixed with GME and water, are able to transform the reversed hexagonal phase into a cubic phase [117] (paper II). The addition of the solvent has other positive effects on the formulation since it increases the water swelling capacity considerably, which in turn decreases the viscosity and makes the formulation easier to handle. Additionally, it is possible to form a cubic structure within minutes using GME, which was discovered by our research group and is of importance from a drug delivery point of view (see Chapter 3.3.2. and paper III-IV).

# **RELATED FACTS BOX** WHAT DO CUBIC PHASES AND OUTER SPACE HAVE IN COMMON?

Polar lipids and water molecules arrange themselves so that every molecule is as comfortable as possible with its surroundings. That is why the mixture in the formulations, given time, self-assembles into the cubic structure. At that point the system is in its most favorable state in terms of energy. This also leads to the formation of so-called minimal surfaces, in other words an area of average zero curvature. One example of such an area is a saddle point. Look at the red lines in Figure 10. Where the lines meet, the saddle goes up in two directions and down in two, that is it is neither a top nor a bottom. If you look at the cubic structure next to it you can see similar surfaces there.



Figure 10 An example of a saddle point to the left, and a cubic phase structure to the right.

After considering the cubic structure in nature, it is interesting to take an even bigger step back to see the whole picture. The minimal surfaces in my gel-like goo can in fact be found in outer space (Figure 11)! Mathematicians and theoretical physicists use them in calculations regarding, for example, black holes and in string theory. For the theoretical physicist, *strings* is another name for minimal surfaces [130, 131].



Figure 11 Minimal surfaces is the link between cubic structures and black holes. The same basic principles can be found everywhere in our universe. We just have to broaden our horizon to see it. ☺

Liquid crystalline phases have the ability to dissolve/disperse hydrophobic, hydrophilic and amphiphilic compounds. The cubic phase, and the reversed hexagonal phase, has gained a lot of interest as a drug delivery vehicle and has been tried for oral, buccal, transdermal, vaginal, nasal, and intramuscular, administration [61, 132-137], for example. Examples of what has been incorporated within the different phases so far are small molecular APIs, proteins, peptides, vitamins, and DNA [61, 64, 109, 111, 138-148]. In our research, we used small molecules, proteins and additionally nano-particles (papers III-IV and Chapter 5.3.-5.5.).

Adding these substances to the liquid crystalline formulation can of course affect the structure and phase behavior [139, 141-144, 149, 150] but it does not necessarily mean that alterations will take place [139, 151]. Knowing the phase behavior of the system at hand and preparing for potential changes due to the addition of molecules provides a dynamic drug delivery tool.

Large bio-molecules in cubic phases have, to my knowledge, been studied for over 40 years since Gulik-Krzywicki et al. [152] was first with their phosphatidylinositol-lyosozyme-H<sub>2</sub>O system. Such bulky structures cannot be confined solely within the aqueous channels or the lipid bilayer but might be encapsulated in pockets or be partially in both water and lipid, thus possibly altering parts of the structure without destabilizing it [111, 153]. The active substance itself could also be affected in terms of solubility [154] and drug release. For example, something as big as DNA molecules cannot within reasonable time limits diffuse out of the cubic network [141].

Proteins incorporated in the cubic phase do not seem to undergo significant structural changes [139, 141]. Thus, the cubic phase shows an ability to protect the proteins within from degradation and prolong their half-life [104, 108, 155]. One reason for this is that the activity of water in the channel systems is reduced [108, 156] resulting in protection of proteins and peptides [157]. These facts have been put to use in, for instance, membrane protein crystallization [158].

There are a number of reviews that discuss different aspects of the areas mentioned above [70, 103, 108, 109, 153, 159] and Rizwan et al. [159] show a list of compounds of different molecular size that have been incorporated into the cubic phase. A rough size evaluation of such compounds is summarized in Figure 12.



Figure 12 Approximate size ranges of various substances incorporated into the cubic phase.

One advantage of using liquid crystalline phases as a drug delivery vehicle is the ability to achieve sustained release. Many studies of sustained release from the cubic phase have been performed [108, 109, 141, 142, 145, 157, 160-164], showing release of the APIs that follows the square root of time according to Higuchi [165, 166].

The formulation can be modified to some extent in order to allow for a faster or slower diffusion of the API. Altering the diameter of the water channels is one very direct way to modulate the release [141]. Examples of ways to do such modulations include using different charged lipids and surfactants [167, 168]. The viscosity of the system is another factor that seems to have an effect on the release rate; the higher the viscosity the slower the release [164, 169]. Additionally, the continuous nature of the lipid bilayers provides the possibility for vast migration. Investigations of the migration of oligonucleotide within the cubic phase compared to the migration in a hydrogel showed this property to be of importance [170].

It is possible to shift phases from one to another by changing, for example, amount of water, temperature and pressure. This can be used for drug release

purposes if the phase shifting occurs under controlled circumstances. During the transformation between two phases caution must be observed as drug release may increase temporarily [162]. The spontaneous formation of a cubic phase, when in a more water rich environment, from a lamellar starting point is one example [109, 171, 172]. The researchers investigated this idea with the hope of commercialization. However, the researchers soon realized that there was a risk of burst release [171], and the idea had to be revised to find a functioning approach to the same solution [173, 174]. Going from a cubic to a reversed hexagonal liquid crystalline structure can be a way of suppressing drug release [147]. There are examples of using pressure or, even better, temperature to achieve such a shift [147, 175, 176].

# 3.3. CUBIC PHASE FOR DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY

Depending on the intended delivery route, the cubic phases have more or less attractive features. The highly viscous phase might be suitable for oral delivery [126, 135, 162]. It is also mucoadhesive with the ability to stick to the skin surface [60, 61, 70, 132, 133]. However, to some extent it is a question of taste as some researchers find the high viscosity an advantage in dermal delivery [61, 62] while another finds it to be a disadvantage and prefers the less viscous sponge phase [177].

Liquid crystalline phases and the cubic phase in particular have shown to be good candidates for transdermal drug delivery (paper III-IV) [61, 62, 64-67]. The reasons for this are numerous: it has, as mentioned, adhesive features, it can be engineered to provide sustained delivery, it is non-toxic, and it can contain a wide variety of active substances [60-63]. Moreover, because of the skin construction any vesicle able to penetrate must be deformable and fluid in the lipid bilayers [68]. Delivery vehicle interaction with the skin lipids can influence a phase change so that more of the solid lipid sections of the intercellular matrix become fluid, thus enabling enhanced molecular diffusion [69].

#### 3.3.1. THE CUBIC PHASE IMPROVING DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY

There are examples of studies using cubic phase systems as a transdermal drug delivery vehicle for treating both dermal diseases and internal problems where systemic delivery is needed. With the aim of treating atopic dermatitis, GMO-based formulations were studied on excised rat skin resulting in effective skin delivery [178]. In another study enhanced systemic effect was observed both *in vivo* and *ex vivo* when using a cubic formulation compared to two microemulsion gels [179]. Yet another study showed that the cubic phase were more efficient for transdermal drug delivery than the reversed hexagonal and lamellar phases [180]. However, it must be pointed out that some of these results were obtained from studies performed on shaved rats. The shaving disturbs and affects the skin resulting in a less than optimal set-up. However, the dermal delivery studies included in this thesis (papers III-IV) concur with the observation that the cubic phase increases the extent of drug diffusion.

A relevant example of improving dermal drug delivery by using the cubic phase is within the skin cancer treatment termed photo dynamic therapy (PDT) ([61], paper III). In short, this treatment is based on making cells sensitive to light so that when illuminated the cells die. The use of  $\delta$ -aminolevulinic acid (ALA) and ALA-esters in PDT is the object of many studies even though the more specific area of interest can differ from cancer treatment to reducing acne, for example. There are examples of clinical studies reporting positive effects when using methyl aminolevulinate (MAL) in PDT treatment compared to other methods such as surgery and cryosurgery [181, 182]. Experiments of the permeation of ALA across skin [183, 184] and the stability of the drug in formulated drug delivery vehicles [61] have also been studied in detail. Studies using different drug delivery vehicles arrive at different conclusions with regards to the transdermal absorption of ALA and MAL. When comparing the results presented in these references with the results obtained in our study (paper III) it is evident that the cubic formulations we present have a significantly enhancing effect on absorption of the drug.

#### 3.3.2. THE ON DEMAND CUBIC FORMULATION

A protocol for "on demand" preparation of cubic formulations suitable for dermal drug delivery was developed, building on previous work within the research group. The cubic formulations previously used needed to be allowed to equilibrate at least over night before use. The new protocol is especially suitable for drugs that have limited stability in solution, and therefore should be prepared as close to the administration occasion as possible. Thus, it was evaluated in the aforementioned *in vivo* PDT study (paper III).

The preparation of the formulation includes one syringe filled with GME and solvent, and one syringe containing water. The syringes are joined with a connector that holds the API in dry form. By using the syringe pistons to push the content back and forth through the connector until thoroughly mixed, the cubic phase formulation is produced in less than one minute (see Figure 13).



Figure 13 The mixing of components to obtain an on demand cubic formulation.

This formulation solves the stability issue of the API stored in the connector piece. Moreover, by merely using GME instead of GMO it circumvents the stability issues otherwise present in a standard GMO-based cubic formulation due to hydrolysis of the extra carbonyl oxygen. The solvents used to prepare the on demand cubic phase were PG and POL, but other solvents could also be used.

As the formulation proved to be an effective delivery vehicle for small molecules, it was also tested for proteins and nano-particles (NP) (BSA, gold nano-particles (AuNP), and quantum dots (QD)), discussed further in paper IV and in Chapter 5.4.-5.5.) with positive results. This on demand formulation is a vital part of the research presented in this thesis.

When working with the cubic formulations as a dermal drug delivery vehicle one thing is abundantly clear: the phase is virtually impossible to wash of. This has to do with the fact that it swells in water to a certain extent. However, it is also due to an interaction with the skin that is not completely explained as of yet. Through the use of different techniques and methods (Chapter 4) further information could be gathered about the formulations and their skin penetration, as well as dermal drug delivery abilities (results in Chapter 5). Combining these results with information about the lipid matrix (Chapter 2.2.1.) and the phase behavior of the system (paper II and Chapter 5.2.) makes it possible to hypothesize over what happens when we add the formulation to the skin surface.

The formulations applied to the skin samples in the included studies were the GMO-water based and the GME-water-solvent based cubic phases. These molecules and formulations are very similar but the systems differ in a few key points. In excess water GMO forms a cubic phase while GME forms a reversed hexagonal phase and needs the solvent to form a cubic phase. In the dermal delivery studies no significant difference could be seen when small molecules were tested; however, for large molecules and nanoparticles the only efficient delivery vehicle was the GME-water-solvent based cubic formulation. The change of lipid, decided on due to possible commercialization reasons, proved to be an interesting choice.

The applied formulation provides hydration to the tissue, both from the formulation itself and through occlusion of the area. The hydration results in swelling of the cells and straightening of the lipid matrix [15]. The samples treated with the cubic formulation swell more than water treated samples. This is not unlikely as the lipids in SC are uncharged and relatively nonpolar, thus less prone to swelling in a hydrating environment compared to the polar lipids of the cubic formulation [15, 185]. However, the liquid crystalline phases are similar to the lipid matrix in SC [125]. Introducing the formulation to the skin lipid layers should thus induce an increased swelling of the tissue due to increased uptake of water. Moreover, the high relative humidity at the

boundary between phase and skin will result in increased membrane permeability [34]. Adding to this is the fact that the solvent/penetration enhancer included in the GME-based formulation has keratolytic properties [49, 93, 186]; therefore, the following hypothesis may be a plausible explanation to the increased delivery:

The applied GME-based cubic formulation adheres to the surface, occludes and hydrates the skin. When the cubic phase comes in contact with the water present within the skin the solvent is released. The hydration from occlusion in combination with the released solvent generates swelling of the cells and detachment from each other. When the cubic phase loses POL it will transition into a reversed hexagonal phase, in other words it goes from a continuous to a discrete system, according to the phase diagram in paper II. The influenced skin lipid matrix meets the reversed cylindrical micelles budding of the applied formulation, enabling migration between the cell layers. The release of the solvent continues during the skin penetration, as water will always be present.



Figure 14 An illustration representing the GME cubic phase from which a reversed cylindrical micelle emerges, represented by a snake, preceded by its cloven POL tongue and carrying the loaded API as a swallowed prey.

Moreover, the fluid lipids of the formulation come in contact with the lipids of the quite rigid matrix and increase the mobility of the lipids therein, possibly altering the local liquid crystalline structure. This combination of events work its way downward, opening pathways and dragging with it what was first loaded into the cubic phase. This process takes time and droplet-like depots can form (see Chapter 5.5.) from where the progression continues. Smaller molecules may be delivered into the cells from the depots while larger molecules and particles most likely follow the formulation until deposited.

# **RELATED FACTS BOX – ANCIENT SKIN CARE**

Today skin care and cleanliness is a given, but also lucrative business. This has not always been the case. In the cold northern countries washing and skin care was not high priority, though it was never as bad as during the middle ages when bathing was more or less unheard of. Women could possibly rinse their skin with wine to get a smooth, silky touch. Other than that, Europeans in general used perfume to cover the body odors instead of washing [187, 188].

The situation further south was quite different, where both culture and religion requested cleanliness. For example, documents from Egypt, Greece, and Roman lands, as well as the Bible as historical documentation from the same



time period, describes washing procedures and lubrication with oils as a daily ritual in many cases. Cleopatra is well-known for bathing in sour milk to stay young. The lactic acid is favorable for skin exfoliation, so why not give it a try? The Bible also mentions milk baths, as well as both men and women putting

oil on their faces and hair. The most common choice was olive oil, which sometimes was infused with herbs or flowers and sometimes in combination with honey as a further moisturizer [187-189].

The combination honey and oil was also commonly used by men and women in Greece for health and looks. The athletes in ancient Greece covered their bodies with olive oil and fine sand to regulate body temperature and for protection from sunburns [187, 188].

We should learn from these ancient ideas and take good care of the skin; it is our largest organ and must last a lifetime. Watch out though! The etheric oils which were frequently used are now known contact allergens, and many a vain lady succumbed to arsenic or led poisoning which were common ingredients in cosmetic products. We can all be thankful for lifesaving research results! ©

# A RESEARCH METHODS AND ANALYSIS Over the years of work leading up to this thesis a large number of techniques were used. These techniques will be described briefly and, to some extent, compared to other possible techniques that were disregarded from use for different reasons. For further details of the methods and equipment used, readers are referred to the included papers. All techniques were chosen in the attempt to find the best way to answer our various questions.

# 4.1. ANALYZING LIQUID CRYSTALLINE PHASES

The most common techniques used to analyze liquid crystalline phases are crossed polarizers, SAXD and NMR. The combination of these techniques gives a clear image of the phases and phase behavior. Thus, they are valuable tools when constructing a phase diagram. For a complete phase diagram, a vast number of samples have to be prepared, analyzed, and composed. The mentioned methods have been used for sample analysis in the papers included in this thesis and will all be presented here.

# 4.1.1. CROSSED POLARIZERS

Crossed polarizers (Figure 15) are very useful for determining if there is birefringence in the liquid crystalline samples. After ocularly determining the number of phases present in the vial and the relative amount of each phase, it is possible to obtain a first indication of which phase is which and its position in the vial by holding the sample between crossed polarizers. Both lamellar and reversed hexagonal phases alter the direction of the light making the sample look like it is glowing (anisotropic phases). Cubic, sponge and liquid phases do not glow, thus looking completely black (isotropic phases).



Figure 15 Schematic image of crossed polarizers where the light is blocked in all but one direction, thus if one of the plates is turned 90° no light will pass through.

For more detailed information about the texture of the birefringent phases or of phase shifts due to, for example, temperature alterations, an optical microscope equipped with crossed polarizers can be used. A cubic sample can, for instance, be studied under the microscope and stepwise heated until it turns into a reversed hexagonal phase. This gives an indication of the heat tolerance of the phase (studied in paper II). The reversed hexagonal phase can be distinguished from the lamellar phase, as they show a colorful image and a black and white structure, respectively. Any further details must be found using other techniques.

#### 4.1.2. SMALL ANGLE X-RAY DIFFRACTION

The small angle X-ray diffraction (SAXD) technique is applied to study structures that are approximately 1-100 nm in size. An X-ray photon primary beam is directed at the sample at a small angle causing photons to be emitted in all directions as scatter. The photons can sum up and give rise to diffraction. Diffraction is obtained when the difference in distance between the planes in the sample are equal to the wavelength of the radiation, stipulated by Bragg's law (equation 3). Only the diffracted photons that travel parallel to a specified direction are allowed into the detector which is divided into 1024 channels, in other words angles or scattering vectors [190].

When data is collected Bragg's law [191] is used to calculate the distance between layers within the sample.

$$n\lambda = 2d\sin\theta \tag{3}$$

where n is an integer,  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of the incoming beam, d the distance between two molecular layers, and  $\theta$  the angle between incoming or reflected beams and the molecular layer (see Figure 16). This equation shows that for a small d, such as within a molecular or atomic lattice, the incoming primary beam angle must be wide. For a larger d, such as in the liquid crystalline phases, the angle must be small in which case SAXD is the suitable technique to use [190].



Figure 16 Schematic image of Bragg diffraction, where two beams of identical wavelengths hit a surface and are reflected by atoms in two different planes. The lower beam travels a distance of  $2d\sin\theta$ . Constructive interference occurs when this length corresponds to an integer multiplied by the wavelength of the beam.

To calculate the distance between the planes, d, from the SAXD measurements equation 4 is used.

$$d = 2\pi/q \tag{4}$$

where q is the scattering vector obtained during measurements. In this way information such as bilayer structure and thickness of the sample can be obtained [190, 192, 193]. The diffraction pattern and q position of the obtained spectra gives the sample space group and (nano)size, respectively.

#### 4.1.3. NUCLEAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE

NMR is a versatile analytical technique used in many disciplines of scientific research, medicine, and various industries, for example, for determining the content and purity of a sample and its molecular structure. It can be used to

quantitatively analyze known mixtures or solve the basic structure of unknown compounds. NMR can further be used to study solubility, diffusion, phase changes, and other physical properties on a molecular level. To achieve all of these applications a number of different NMR techniques have been developed [192].

To describe NMR in its most basic terms, I cite Joseph P. Hornak: "Nuclear magnetic resonance is a phenomenon which occurs when the nuclei of certain atoms are immersed in a static magnetic field and exposed to a second oscillating magnetic field. Some nuclei experience this phenomenon, and others do not, dependent upon whether they possess the property called spin." [194]

Accordingly, these electrically charged nuclei may transfer energy between energy levels when the external magnetic field is applied. When the spin returns to its base level the obtained energy is emitted at the same frequency as was sent in. The transfer signal is measured and processed, yielding an NMR spectrum for each such nucleus [194].

Different nuclei, even within the same molecule, come into resonance at different frequencies. This can be used to provide information about the molecular structure and position of the different parts of the molecules in the media. The so-called chemical shift shows the difference between the resonance frequency of each nuclei and a reference standard [192, 194]. This was used in our work (paper II) where the obtained single <sup>1</sup>H resonances from the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  hydrogen's of POL provided chemical shifts in lipid and water domains of the cubic and sponge phases. From these results the distribution of the POL molecules in its surroundings was determined. Moreover, the <sup>2</sup>H NMR signal pattern of some phases was recorded to confirm the presence of a sponge phase in the GME-POL-W phase diagram. The <sup>2</sup>H NMR signal originates from deuterated samples, in this case water replaced with D<sub>2</sub>O.

### 4.2. MODEL SYSTEMS

The techniques presented below were used *in vivo* or *in vitro/ex vivo*. The *in vivo* methods were executed using hairless mice in search of a pharmacological response. *In vitro/ex vivo* measurements were performed on excised human skin tissue in order to screen a number of formulations and diffusing molecules and particles.

#### 4.2.1. IN VITRO AND EX VIVO: DIFFUSION CELLS

Franz cells are very common equipment to use for penetration studies through human or animal skin, artificially grown skin, or other membranes. The simple layout is presented in Figure 17 with the skin sandwiched between the formulation and the receptor fluid, allowing for a set-up as similar as possible to the *in vivo* situation with regard to temperature and so on (it is also possible to use these cells for iontophoresis, for example). This technique was used for the majority of samples within the research presented here. No other *in vitro/ex vivo* method can, to my knowledge, mimic the natural dermal application situation better.

However, some may argue that techniques such as tape stripping, which can be used directly on the patient, are preferable. In tape stripping a tape adheres to the skin surface and is then pulled off, taking some of the skin layers with it. This is not too painful and such multiple procedures can be performed before the area is too damp for the tape to adhere. Each sample can then be analyzed in search of, for example, the amount of API. However, this method has a number of inherent difficulties such as: i) by disrupting the layers artifacts can be introduced, thus it is not possible to remove specific homogenous layers making the location in the skin somewhat uncertain [195]; ii) the test subject is subjected to the drug with the possibility of unwanted systemic effect; and iii) the tissue must be clean and dry before the technique can be used. The latter would create obstacles in our case, as the cubic formulations are hard to remove without leaving an oily residue.



Figure 17 A Franz diffusion cell with donor chamber, receptor chamber and clamp, seen in the top image. The receptor chamber is filled with fluid and the skin sample is placed over the opening with the surface facing upward. The donor chamber is placed on top of the skin and the whole diffusion cell is clamped together, enabling penetration studies of the substance applied to the skin via the donor chamber.

The skin was treated with the formulations in the diffusion cells before they were analyzed using different methods depending on the research question. The diffusion always had to be monitored, and thus there was a need to investigate the amount API present in the receptor fluid and to enable looking deep into the skin tissue.

#### 4.2.2. IN VIVO: TRIALS FOR PHARMACOLOGICAL RESPONSE

In order for an API to reach the market it must go through animal and human trials. Animal testing is a proof-of-concept method used for APIs and techniques prior to clinical trials. The desire is to do as little animal trials as possible and each study must have an ethical approval before the experiments can commence. Well known guideline principles for more ethical animal testing are the Three Rs: i) Replacement – whenever possible, replace animal trials with another method to achieve the same scientific aim; ii) Reduction – use as few animals as possible and/or obtain more information from the same

number of animals; and iii) Refinement – enhance animal welfare and minimize pain, suffering or distress for the animals used [196].

There are a number of different animal models to choose from that are more or less similar to humans. Pros and cons must be carefully weighed with regards to factors such as costs, housing opportunities, ease of handling, animal robustness, and immunological status. Mice are a common choice of animal that are easy to maintain and acquire at a relatively low cost. Mice are thus ideal to use when a high number of animals are needed for statistical assessment [197].

In the *in vivo* trials performed for paper III, hairless mice (see Figure 18) were chosen in order for us to be able to apply the formulation on intact, unshaven skin. The PDT process must be studied on living organisms in search of a pharmacological response. ALA enters the heme biosynthesis cycle, which only functions in living cells, thus the need for live animals in this case. For our need for statistical data, mice were a good choice. They are small animals that are easy to handle, have short life-cycles and the housing facilities have a vast experience of these creatures.



Figure 18 Photographs of an anesthetized mouse during application of cubic formulation (to the left) and spectroscopic measurements performed on the mouse through the occluding dressing (to the right).

For assessment we used a non-invasive method: fluorescence spectrophotometry (fluorescence will be further explained in Chapter 4.3.1.3.). An excitation wavelength appropriate for the PpIX signal was sent into the tissue and the emission was detected through a fiber optic coupler accessory.

Fluorescence readings were simply performed by holding the optical probe against the skin of the treated mice. This was the easiest way to detect the changes in PpIX formation over time without injuring the animals.

# 4.3. ANALYTICAL METHODS

#### 4.3.1. LASER SCANNING MICROSCOPY

When facing the problem of clear imaging deep into skin tissue without histopathological or other invasive preparations, a number of issues arise. Firstly, the skin scatters light, making a clear image hard to obtain. Red near-infrared (NIR) light are spread the least, thus to achieve deep light penetration, wavelengths ranging from approximately 700-1000 nm are preferred. NIR light not only penetrates deeper into scattering tissue but is also generally less phototoxic [198]. Secondly, the skin consists of a number of layers with different structures. In order to visualize this, the technique used must be able to provide a detailed 3D view.

Optical microscopy is commonly used with histopathological samples. However, the resolution and details of the obtained images are often insufficient. A better choice would be to use confocal microscopy. This fluorescence microscopy technique use linear (one-photon) absorption (see Figure 19) processes for contrast generation. It achieves 3D resolution and optical sectioning through the use of a detection pinhole that rejects all light that does not originate from the focus. Due to the scattering effect of the tissue this limits the use on the skin surface for high-resolution imaging.



Figure 19 Jablonski diagram showing energy levels for one-photon absorption (A), two-photon absorption (B) and coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering (C).

A further improvement of the microscopy technique was necessary in order to perform non-invasive imaging. To avoid the effects of scattering and to take advantage of the low absorbing near-infrared excitation light, a non-linear process was employed. One example of a non-linear process is multi-photon excitation. For such an unlikely process to occur at least two photons need to combine their energies to excite the fluorescent molecule simultaneously (within ~0.5 fs) (see Figure 19). The emission will occur in the visible spectral range, same as for one-photon excitation, but with the aid of pulsed lasers achieving high peak intensities the multi-photon excitation can take place using NIR light [198]. Moreover, the excitation only occurs at the focal point, hence the technique is more specific even without the use of a pinhole [199]. Two techniques that employ this are Two-photon microscopy and Coherent anti-Stokes Raman spectroscopy, both presented below.

#### 4.3.1.1. TWO-PHOTON MICROSCOPY

Two-photon excited fluorescence laser scanning microscopy (TPM) was used in paper IV for acquiring images deep within the light spreading skin tissue. As mentioned above, it makes use of low scattering, low absorbing NIR excitation light, and more effective emission detection compared to confocal microscopy. Moreover, the skin auto-fluorescence has an emission wavelength within the green area, which enables detection of added red fluorescing molecules or particles. This can be used so that the auto-fluorescence shows where in the skin layers the image is taken while the red fluorescence depicts the location of the added substance. The auto-fluorescence originates from a number of different substances within the skin, which are presented in Table 3. Our work is based on the knowledge provided by a number of interesting studies and reviews that have been published on the use of two-photon microscopy on human skin *in vivo* and *ex vivo* [199-204].

Skin layer	Source of auto-fluorescence
SC	Keratin
SG	NADPH
SB	Melanin
Dermis	Elastin, Collagen

Table 3 The location of auto-fluorescing substances found in skin tissue.

With the aid of TPM, diffusion of nanoparticles, as well as fluorescently labeled proteins, have been visualized in our studies. TPM is becoming more and more used for skin imaging due to it being an efficient tool when aiming for visualization of events taking place deep into light spreading tissue [38, 205-207].

It is noteworthy that the auto-fluorescence signal in TPM increased when applying a cubic formulation to the skin sample. This may be due to optical clearing [208].

#### 4.3.1.2. COHERENT ANTI-STOKES RAMAN SPECTROSCOPY

Coherent anti-Stokes Raman spectroscopy (CARS) has its background in Raman spectroscopy, as the name suggests. In Raman spectroscopy the electrons are pumped by a single continuous wave to an imaginary energy state. A way of explaining this, perhaps a somewhat peculiar statement, is that the photons that are sent into the electron clouds influence the electrons without affecting them. When the electrons then return to a vibrational state the energy difference is detected. This can be a decrease in energy called Stokes, but it can also be an increase in energy called anti-Stokes. The latter is used in CARS. The CARS process uses the fact that different chemical bonds have different vibrational spectra, much like a fingerprint [209, 210]. The CH bonds, which are present in a high amount in lipids and thus of interest in my research, are one example of such bonds. In order to see these fingerprints two laser pulses are needed, similar to TPM. The difference in frequency between the two pulses must be set to match the vibration of the molecule aimed to study. By using the two pulses, called pump and Stokes, the system can contain both the ground state and an excited state at the same time (see Figure 19). If the corresponding vibrational spectra is present in the sample this will result in the anti-Stokes signal [211].

CARS can be combined with other microscopy techniques, such as TPM, for obtaining an even more complete image of the tissue at hand [212]. In this way it is possible to selectively image biomolecules or other complex structures without any labeling. The CARS signal is detected on the blue side of the incoming radiation, which is free from fluorescence (compared to the Raman signal which is detected on the red side where it might have to compete with other fluorescent processes).

# 4.3.1.3. Fluorescent signal

In order for the TPM technique to be useful there must be a fluorescent signal in the sample. In a linear process the emitted fluorescent light has a longer wavelength than the absorbed light, though when the two-photon process is used the emission of radiation has a shorter wavelength than the absorbed radiation.

# Fluorophores

A fluorophore is a fluorescent chemical compound (typically containing aromatic groups), that after excitation re-emits light. The fluorophore is excited by a light source and emits light when relaxing back to its ground state (in the same way as shown in Figure 19). As mentioned, the emitted fluorescence light has a longer wavelength than the absorbed light. This is due to a loss of energy, between excitation and emission, known as Stokes shift. Fluorophores are, for biological applications, ideally small molecules that can be linked to larger molecules, such as proteins, in order to study the complex. Pioneering work in

the context of TPM, studied 3D distributions of fluorescent probes in excised full-thickness human skin [33].

#### Semiconductor nanocrystals

Quantum dots (QDs) are luminescent semiconductor nanocrystals. The mechanism behind the luminescence differs between fluorophores and QDs. As previously explained, fluorescence from molecules is due to the excited electrons that fall back into their ground state. However, in semiconductor nano-crystals the movements are a bit more restricted. When an electron in a semiconductor is excited from the valence band to the conduction band, a hole in the valence band is created. This electron hole pair is called an exciton, and can be compared to the state between the proton and the electron of the hydrogen atom. The size-related optical and electronic phenomena are also known as "quantum size effect", hence the name Quantum dots [213].

QDs are characterized as having sharp and symmetrical emission spectra, broad absorption spectra, size dependent emission wavelength tuneability, high quantum yields, and good chemical stability and photo-stability [214]. The particle surface is often covered with an organic coating that is necessary during synthesis to control, for example, the growth, solubility and crystal morphology (Figure 20). Depending on application this can later be of use to couple other coatings to the particle [213], for instance to create stealth effect (see further Chapter 5.5.).



Figure 20 Schematic image showing a possible structure of QDs, with a cadmium and Zink-based core covered with an amphiphilic polymer to which polyethylene glycol (PEG) is coupled in order to achieve stealth effect.

#### Plasmon resonance

Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) are somewhat more difficult than QDs and fluorophores to use in optical microscopy such as TPM. The effect, which enables visualization of AuNPs, is called surface plasmon resonance (SPR). The SPR in AuNPs is the coherent excitation of all the free electrons within the conduction band, leading to oscillation. The surface of the particle plays an important role for SPR through altering the polarizing conditions for the metal, which shifts the resonance to optical frequencies. Globular nanoparticles give fewer signals than nanorods, for example. Thus, the surface plasmon absorption is a small particle effect and not a quantum size effect [215]. What complicates the matter is that the spherical particles cannot be too far apart if they are to be detected using TPM. (This we learned the hard way.)

AuNPs have been used in cell studies using TPM for assessment. The conclusion drawn by the authors, quite logically, was that if AuNPs were detected they were attached to or incorporated within the cells, and if they could not see any particles, there were none present [216]. As this seemed straight forward, our idea was to incorporate AuNPs in the formulations, apply them to the skin and study the penetration into skin tissue (in the same way as later was performed using QDs, see Chapter 5.5.). However, the 5, 20 or 40 nm spherical AuNPs were not detectable using TPM in water solution, the cubic phase, or the skin tissue. Only aggregates could be detected. This of course raised questions about the measurements. When drying AuNP solution on a glass slip it was clear that the obtained signal only originated from aggregates. The problems to obtain a two-photon signal lead to a more in depth study of the physical origin of the luminescence signal (work to be published) [217]. The results showed that for 10 nm particles the longest separating distance possible was <10 nm. These findings imply that particles can be present though too far apart to be detectable using TPM.

In my opinion this is an important issue that can cause problems, for example, for cell studies such as those mentioned above. In our case it led to performing some initial experiments with SEM and TEM to detect the particles in the skin samples (ongoing work) and to replace the AuNP formulations with systems containing QDs in order to follow the diffusion using TPM.

#### 4.3.2. CHEMICAL ANALYSIS

#### 4.3.2.1. HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

HPLC (High Performance Liquid Chromatography) is a very commonly used technique for chemical analysis. HPLC can be used to separate, quantify and identify different compounds. A suitable mobile phase is pumped at a steady pace, pushing solubilized samples through an analytical column, resulting in separation of the components of the sample. The sample components elute at the other side of the column at different times depending on how much the composition of the column and composition of the mobile phase. Variations of the latter can include different solvents, pH, ion strength, and so on. During the first study performed (paper I), the amount of terbinafine was detected in receptor fluid samples. As terbinafine absorbs within the UV range it could be analyzed using a UV detector, where the eluted fractions continue through a flow cell and energy changes are detected.

#### 4.3.2.2. TECHNIQUES USED WITHIN PROTEOMICS

The analysis of proteins and particles in skin tissue originates from the scientific question whether or not the cubic phases are able to enhance dermal delivery of large molecules and particles. Actual proteins can interact with both the formulation and the skin, thus the nanoparticles were chosen to be easily traced inert models of protein drugs. However, as the penetration of QDs into viable epidermis was successful, the diffusion of fluorescently marked BSA was also tested as a model of a bulky protein drug.

The TPM results showed a deep penetration of BSA into *ex vivo* skin. With knowledge of dermal delivery of large molecules this was quite spectacular; therefore, we felt the need to make certain that the obtained signal originated solely from the TMR-BSA complex. Although unlikely, it might be possible that the fluorophore leaves the protein and is separately transferred deeper into the skin (TMR is covalently bound to BSA and it should thus take active cleaving to separate them), or that free TMR could be present in the sample despite the cleaning made by the suppliers. With this in mind, the need to find a

way to distinguish BSA from HSA in skin samples arose. Our work turned towards the scientific branch of Proteomics.

Proteomics studies the structure and function of proteins. The word "proteome" is derived from PROTEins expressed by a genOME, and it refers to all the proteins produced by an organism, much like the genome is the entire set of genes. Proteomic technologies play an important role into finding the link between genes, proteins and disease. Often the findings make it possible to discover defective proteins that cause particular diseases, enabling the development of new drugs that either alter the shape of a defective protein or mimic a missing one [218].

Proteomics is a complex field with a number of available techniques depending on the research question. The techniques focus on revealing structure and conformation, as well as measuring protein concentrations in varying conditions. Within each step, for instance structural analysis, purification, protein concentration, and separation a number of techniques can be used.

With the aid of experts in the field, the choice of techniques fell on 2D gel electrophoresis combined with LC-MS/MS analysis. This combination enables separation of the proteins on size and thereafter the ability to distinguish BSA from HSA.

A few alternative methods were discussed but ruled out. One example is albumin depletion, which is normally used to remove serum albumin (SA) from blood samples, for example. The high amount of SA can disturb the analysis of low abundant proteins, thus enriching columns, and antibody-based methods have been developed to remove SA [219]. This method would in our case be used to single out the SAs and then distinguish BSA from HSA. However, compared to the approach we chose, this would be more costly reaching the same goal, and was thus ruled out.

Another idea was to use immunoprecipitation. This technique uses a specific antibody that binds the particular protein searched for in order to isolate it from the other proteins in the sample. The protein is immobilized on solid substrates and later eluted and identified [220]. However, this is an extremely time

consuming procedure which can take up to half a year to perfect, as a specific antibody only working for BSA would have to be located for the technique to be usable.

As the techniques chosen achieved the set goals, no other methods were tried.

RESULTS
The research results included in this thesis are here summarized and further discussed.

# 5.1. PAPER I

EFFECT OF PENTANE-1,5-DIOL AND PROPANE-1,2-DIOL ON PERCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION OF TERBINAFINE

Two penetration enhancers were here compared in order to achieve effective delivery of Terbinafine into the skin. Terbinafine is an allylamine with antimycotic properties. In this case (5 or 20 %) PG or POL was added to a hydrogel containing the API and applied to excised breast skin in Franz diffusion cells. The amount API that diffused into the receptor fluid was measured using HPLC and related to which penetration enhancer was present, in what amount, and how much of the formulation that was left on the skin surface.



Figure 21 Results from HPLC analysis of Terbinafine concentration in the receptor fluid over time. The gel formulations contained 1 % Terbinafine and a varied amount of either enhancer.

As POL was unheard of as a dermal delivery formulation component, this investigation gave new insights into its use and comparability to a known penetration enhancer, PG. It was found that both PG and POL increased the percutaneous absorption of Terbinafine and that 5% POL resulted in the highest absorption Figure 21. Moreover, a very small amount of formulation was left on top of the skin.

The higher lipophilicity of POL compared to PG can be a reason why POL was the most efficient enhancer in this case, as the API is lipophilic. The low amount of POL present in the hydrogel gave a better drug diffusion than the higher amount, that is, less is more. This may be due to the low amount of POL facilitating interaction between the API and both the enhancer and the lipophilic parts of the skin

# 5.2. PAPER II

CUBIC AND SPONGE PHASES FORMED IN TERNARY ETHER LIPID-SOLVENT-WATER SYSTEMS: PHASE BEHAVIOR AND NMR CHARACTERIZATION

Liquid crystalline systems are fascinating in their predictability combined with ability to surprise. Their uses are far from completely mapped, which we touch upon in the introduction of paper II.

The aim of this work was to thoroughly investigate the two GME-POL-water and GME-NMP-water systems which are applicable for use in biological fields such as protein crystallization, API-delivery etc.

NMP behaved as predicted compared to a previously published diagram with PG as solvent [117], that is as an effective solvent with the one-phase areas lining up parallel to the GME-NMP base line, except that no lamellar phase was found at ambient temperatures. POL, however, showed interesting and unanticipated results, regarding the shape of the sponge one phase area, for example (see Figure 22).



Figure 22 The GME-POL-water and GME-NMP-water phase diagrams. The letters in the onephase areas denotes: liquid phase, L; lamellar phase,  $L_a$ ; reversed hexagonal phase,  $H_2$ ; cubic phase,  $I_2$ ; and sponge phase,  $L_3$ .

When looking deeper into this conundrum using NMR, we found that the bolashaped POL reside to a slightly higher extent in the water domains of the cubic and sponge phases, though prefers the interface between water and lipid. This preference is part of the explanation why there is such a large sponge phase area compared to comparable phase diagrams, as the presence of POL flattens the bilayers. Moreover, the bola shape of the POL molecule may enable POL to behave as two solvent molecules through bending around the hydrophilic head group of the lipid. This combination makes POL act as an efficient solvent but still allows for large ordered liquid crystalline-like bilayered structures.

The presented phase diagrams show two GME-based systems which are temperature stable and easy to handle. New applications should be possible to find for whoever puts their mind to it.

# 5.3. PAPER III

IN VIVO STUDY OF AN INSTANTLY FORMED LIPID-WATER CUBIC PHASE FORMULATION FOR EFFICIENT TOPICAL DELIVERY OF AMINOLEVULINIC ACID AND METHYL-AMINOLEVULINATE

The aim of this study was to improve dermal delivery of ALA and MAL in order to enhance the efficacy of PDT. This work builds on a previous study

performed in our group [61]. The cubic formulation was in the mentioned study found to be very efficient compared to other delivery systems. However, a solution to a few problems had to be found in order to obtain a usable system.

Thus, we set out to solve the main issues while maintaining the previous good results. First of all; the APIs used in PDT is extremely prone to hydrolysis and



should be stored in dry form. This would imply preferred mixing on site before application. With this conclusion another issue arose; the GMO based cubic phase takes time and strenuous mixing to form. Also, GMO, which was used in the original cubic formulation, hydrolyzes with time, and even faster in the presence of the API salts. However, the solution to the mentioned problems lay in replacing GMO with GME. The GME cubic phase can be formed instantly and is also less viscous and thus easier to apply than the GMO cubic phase.

Figure 23 Mixing the formulation, measuring *in vivo*, and some of the subsequent results.

To obtain a cubic phase using GME, a solvent is required; here either PG or POL. An effective solvent flattens the lipid bilayer by organizing itself in the border between lipid and water, pushing the lipid head groups apart. This favors the cubic structure because of the flatter less strained lipid bilayer. When the lipid chains are organized in this way it is possible for the cubic phase to hold a higher amount of water [221]. More water and wider channels are desirable for topical drug delivery of hydrophilic compounds [109].

After mixing the on demand formulation and applying it to the skin of the mice the subsequent formation of PpIX was monitored. In Figure 23 we see a small fraction of the results, which show that the cubic formulations are significantly better at delivering the API into the skin cells. It is noteworthy that Metvix contains five times more API than the on demand cubic system tested here.

The results of this paper show an interesting formulation for use in PDT. However, a clinical trial has to be performed before human use is possible. As the formulation excelled the commercial reference product, we wanted to know how efficient the formulation actually is. Thus the work in the following paper investigates this further.

# 5.4. PAPER IV

DELIVERY OF SERUM ALBUMIN FROM A CUBIC PHASE INTO VIABLE EPIDERMIS STUDIED BY TWO-PHOTON MICROSCOPY

The aim was to evaluate the ability of the on demand cubic formulation as a dermal delivery vehicle for, in this context, large substances. The TPM analysis showed penetration of BSA at least 20-30  $\mu$ m into the skin tissue, but only when using the GME-PG-water on demand cubic formulation.



Figure 24 The BSA containing cubic phase formulation was applied to the skin surface and the permeation was observed using TPM.

For confirmation a second technique was employed. Proteomic methods confirmed the results obtained using TPM and revealed that no free fluorophore (not attached to BSA) was present in the skin samples.

Enabling diffusion of larger molecules into the skin is beneficial for, e.g., needle free vaccination. The depth of diffusion may only be necessary far

enough for the Langerhans cells to reach the delivered API, i.e. deeper tissue concentrations may occur earlier and be greater for live skin than predicted by passive dermal diffusion *ex vivo* [222].

# 5.5. WORK IN PROGRESS

OVERCOMING THE SKIN BARRIER FOR NANOPARTICLES USING NANO-STRUCTURED CUBIC LIPID SYSTEMS

The same methodology as for investigating skin delivery of TMR-BSA (paper IV and Chapter 5.4.), was performed for QDs of  $\sim$ 17 nm size. The results obtained confirmed the results presented in paper IV, and further strengthened our theory of how the enhanced penetration came to pass.

TPM was used to envision the diffusion of these large particles into human skin after 22 h (34°C) topical application. The formulations compared, all containing the same concentration of QDs, was water, water-PG solution, the on demand GME-PG-water cubic formulation, GMO-based cubic formulation, and hexagonal GME-water phase.

The only case when particles were found within the skin tissue was when the GME-based cubic phase was used as delivery vehicle. For the water-PG solution a slight penetration at the top few  $\mu$ m gave an indication of its importance. Though, most dermal delivery products on the market contain penetration enhancers without providing sufficient API absorption. Therefore, a combination of the proved effective cubic dermal delivery system ([61] and paper III-IV) and an effective penetration enhancer seemed the way to go.

In the same way as the proteomics analysis ensured that BSA was present in the samples in paper IV, initial experiments were performed with TEM and SEM to detect nanoparticles in the samples. This is ongoing work however and no conclusive results has been obtained as of yet.

Besides just wanting to find out how large molecules and particles might be deliverable using the cubic formulations, there were other reasons why to choose nanoparticles and in particular PEGylated ones. Nanoparticles administered into the body are taken up and accumulated within e.g. cancer cells resulting in increased therapeutic effect [223], though when delivered intravenously they have been shown to be cleared from the body within minutes depending on size, shape, surface charge etc. [224-226]. Thus measures have to be taken to hide the particles from the effective immune system. Covering the particles with an electrically neutral hydrophilic surface layer is a strategy which can extend the circulation half-life with more than 40 h [227]. This shielding is known as the stealth effect, referring to stealth planes [224]. Polyethylene glycol (PEG) is commonly applied to achieve stealth effect and additionally reduces the tendency for particles to aggregate by steric hindrance [224].

PEGylated QDs were detected using TPM within viable epidermis when the GME-based cubic formulation was used as delivery vehicle. AuNPs could not be detected using TPM, thus alternative techniques has to be employed in order to detect these particles. Thus, this project continues into the future.

VISUALIZING DERMAL ABSORPTION OF LIPID CUBIC PHASE FORMULATION FOR UNDERSTANDING DERMAL DRUG DELIVERY: A COHERENT ANTI-STOKES RAMAN SPECTROSCOPY STUDY

After finding that the cubic phase was effective as a dermal drug delivery vehicle also for large molecules and particles, new questions were raised. Why does it work better than the formulations used for comparison? How does the cubic phase penetrate into the skin? Do the lipids in the phase migrate into the lipid matrix of the SC, or is it the liquid crystalline structure that resembles the ordered arrangement of the lipids in the skin that enables interaction?

To answer some of these questions a technique had to be found that could provide the opportunity to look into skin and distinguish between the formulation, which was added to the surface, and what was already present in the skin. In this case fluorescence would not help as the phase itself does not fluoresce, thus TPM was ruled out. The samples should still be intact, making a number of other techniques inadequate. A technique that works well with lipids and was accessible through another research group at the university was coherent anti-Stokes Raman spectroscopy (CARS). Looking into published data there were indications that it might be possible to distinguish between the lipids in the formulation and the lipids in the skin [212]. Not much similar research had been done and the possible outcomes were intriguing.

Thus, initial experiments were performed to measure the CARS signal from a GME-based cubic phase applied to skin. The difference in CARS spectra between GME and the skin was determined (Figure 25), and the lipid signal of the applied formulation was followed into the skin (Figure 26). A skin sample treated only with water was used for comparison. The most interesting stretch vibration was believed to be  $CH_2$  (2845 cm<sup>-1</sup>) [212, 228], as this is found a lot in lipids, but measurements were performed to cover the frequency range from 2835 to 2955 cm<sup>-1</sup> (corresponding to pump/probe beam between 817.4 and 809.5 nm). The experimental set-up has been described before [229].



Figure 25 CARS spectra measured at the skin surface of samples treated with GME-based cubic formulation or water. Measurements were conducted between cells (B) and within cells (C).

What we report has to my knowledge not been shown previously and were of importance in the understanding of the GME-based cubic formulation as an
efficient dermal drug delivery system. Both Figure 25 and Figure 26 show that the signal from the lipids originates from around the cells, which of course is no surprise, and that the signal is strong in skin wrinkles. The intensity of the signal was overall considerably higher with GME present.

Looking closer at the top line of images in Figure 26 it seems as if the lipid formulation diffuses downward and is found in part as droplets or depots deep into the tissue. The added lipids also continue to enhance the signal in images acquired deep within the tissue and spectral examinations showed that the signal originated from the added lipids.



Figure 26 The top line shows CARS images of skin treated with GME-based cubic formulation at various depths. Below are comparative images of skin treated with water. The images are color coded: red (2845 cm<sup>-1</sup>), green (2870 cm<sup>-1</sup>), blue (2945 cm<sup>-1</sup>), and the color was scaled so that white equals the cubic lipids. The images were retrieved using 20x dry objective, 240x240 µm, 512x512 pixels.

The results agree with our hypothesis with regards to formulation penetration. However, more investigations are needed to thoroughly answer the questions at hand. This data must be repeated and compared with the GMO-based cubic formulation and other lipid-based formulations. We do not know if this diffusion pattern is specific for the GME-based cubic formulation, if it defines the diffusion of cubic phases in general, or if other lipid formulations give similar results. The latter is unlikely though, as published results of omega-3 oil applied to skin did not give a similar result [212]. To visually show the

formulation penetrating deep into the tissue without influencing the system with fluorophores or other imaging aids are in itself quite remarkable. The results presented here are in manuscript form aiming for publication in the near future.

## CONCLUSION

The results of each study included in this thesis have contributed to the postulated hypothesis. The key facts from each study, on which we built the hypothesis, are here presented.

*Paper I:* POL and PG were both found to be efficient percutaneous absorption enhancers.

*Paper II:* Without the addition of a solvent, GME forms a reversed hexagonal phase in excess water. The solvent POL was found to prefer the interface between water and lipid, though ends up to a higher extent in the water rich domains of the cubic phase compared to the lipid domains.

*Paper III:* An effective on demand dermal drug delivery formulation can be formed using GME water and PG or POL. The cubic formulations, based on GME or GMO, were significantly better at delivering the API into the skin cells, compared to the commercial product Metvix. It is noteworthy that Metvix contains five times more API than the tested cubic systems.

*Paper IV*: TPM and proteomic methods showed that delivery of BSA into viable epidermis was possible only when using the GME based cubic formulation as delivery vehicle.

*Work in progress*: TPM studies of QD penetration into skin tissue confirmed the results presented in paper IV, with regard to both penetration and delivery vehicle. The preliminary CARS measurements, aiming to distinguish the lipids of the formulation (starting in its cubic composition) from the lipids of the skin, indicated GME penetration around the cells, in part as droplet-like depots.

From the concluded results and facts previously presented in this thesis, our hypothesis can be presented in short: the on demand GME-water-solvent cubic formulation adheres well to the skin surface and increases the hydration of the tissue. Upon contact with water the solvent is released and the enhancing properties act. Simultaneously, due to the loss of solvent, this cubic phase transitioned into a reversed hexagonal phase. The increased mobility gained enables movement within the skin lipid matrix, further assisted by decreased

rigidity due to the fluid lipids of the formulation. Thus, this process continues downward and brings the loaded API with it.

Also for the GMO-based cubic phase much of the above is true. However, this cubic phase does not transition into a reversed hexagonal phase and is thus less mobile. This may be a reason why we did not see increased absorption for BSA and nanoparticles while the delivery of the small molecules ALA and MAL was as effective.

## FUTURE OUTLOOK

The research field in which my projects are included is broad and there are a number of ways to go from here. However, first of all the aim should be to challenge the postulated hypothesis. Information is needed of how the delivery occurs, that is the diffusion of the API and the formulation components into skin. One way to elucidate this may be to study the dermal delivery of API from the GME-based cubic formulations in the same way as Brewer et al. did when finding that transfersomes do not stay intact during dermal delivery [83]. Moreover, solvents should be included in the GMO-based cubic formulation and the reversed hexagonal GME-based phase in order to elucidate if this would enable drug delivery to the same extent as shown for the GME-based cubic formulations.

Furthermore, the ongoing work has to be finished. The nanoparticle studies only lack the finishing TEM and SEM measurements, which has commenced but not been completed. Regarding the CARS study, data must first of all be repeated. Thereafter, it should be compared with the GMO-based cubic formulation and with other lipid-based formulations in order to visualize similarities and differences from which further conclusions can be drawn.

There are a number of research questions related to my performed work that would be interesting to look deeper into, for example:

- Test the on demand cubic system *in vivo* both through clinical trials of ALA-delivery and through animal studies of protein and nanoparticle skin penetration and effect.
- Study the long term effect on the skin barrier after repeated exposure of cubic lipid systems. So far most studies are restricted to single exposure for maximum 24 hours. As the results of this thesis points towards a significant interaction between the lipid constituents of the phase and the skin lipids, thorough investigations of this interaction should be undertaken not only from an efficacy, but also a safety point of view.
- Continue the work with sponge phases to provide the protein crystallization field with a better understanding of the occurring

processes and a more efficient tool to work with. Also, to find other new uses for this interesting phase.

- Combine TPM of, for example, fluorescent proteins with, for example, FCS to find an easier way to detect if the fluorophore stays attached to the molecule of interest and to follow the diffusion in more detail.
- Continue the work with TPM and AuNP gradient plates for increased understanding and for new applications within, for example, the pharmaceutical field.

I hope there will be more people interested in working with these issues in the future and that my contribution to the field, however small, may aid in some way to an increased understanding.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS Despite that my PhD-studies has been lonely work for the most part, there are a number of people to whom I owe a big THANKS for their help and support. I couldn't have done it without you!

First of all a big thank you hug to my supervisors! To Marica Ericson who has been my main research support over the years and has given me a lot of information, interesting discussions, and feed-back. I hope some of your brains have rubbed off on me. Also, thank you for going to Texas for a year so I got the opportunity to hang out with you and your sweet family there. Thanks to my crazy professor, Sven Engström, for all your difficult questions and fun conversations, and for your bad conscience which has been amusing at times. A final thank you to Jan Faergemann who has been there in the background ready to help if needed.

My work has been performed within the group Pharmaceutical Technology, led by Anette Larsson and Sven Engström. The work climate in the group has always been welcoming, supportive, and fun. Thank you, Anette, for your support and for letting me be your hobby-shrink. I hope we will continue sharing God-thoughts. Farhad, my dear "terrorist", you are a joy to know! Slap yourself on the head (hard but with love) from me. Anna V, my beloved beautiful work-wife and friend for life. Annika, thanks for being a great roommate on our conference trips and for making the lab tidy. Mikael, I think of you every time I hear the song "Carrie". Of all of the people I've met during my PhD-studies you are most likely to win the Nobel Prize. Sofie, thanks for reading my thesis and for holding the fort! Your efforts of keeping things in order are very much appreciated. Helen, good luck with your little one and with all your supervisors. Remember to keep it cool and go with the flow  $\odot$ . Anders, I'm looking forward to seeing you tap-dance, that was my favorite thing you agreed upon when we were running past each other in the lab. Say hi to your Mongo from my Mongo. Johanna, thanks for the tip regarding iceskates! Let me know if you skate past my place again. Anna B, thanks for spending a reasonable amount of time in our office  $\odot$  and for always happily answering my odd questions. Anna S, you are inspiring in your idea-richness. Good luck with the biking. Magnus, thanks for keeping the instruments working until you left, and for the fun we had sharing student incidents. Romain, you crazy Frenchman! Stay in touch via e-mail if you dare. To all of you former and present group members: Love you guys! Keep up the good work!

There are also those which I've been just hanging with at lunch or fika or work related get-togethers. Thank you all for making each day in your company a good time. Of course I here have to mention Renee. Thanks for the chemistry discussions, hugs, and car-company. And most of all thanks for sharing my passion for pranks together with Tim and Agi <sup>(2)</sup>. Let's do it again!

There are a bunch of people whom I have been working with whether we have published our papers yet or not. Thanks for your help and valuable ideas. Thank you all my diploma workers. Your work has provided increased knowledge whether your experiments were successful or not. Also, a huge thank you is owed to all the administrative personnel, people at CCI, EBM, Proteomics, the Department of Dermatology, SkinResQu. Paperwork, computer issues, technical problems, support of all sorts; you are lifesavers! There are two who deserve a most special mention: Christina Halldin for collecting all the boob-skin. And of course Stina Guldbrand; working or relaxing it is always hilarious! Chram!!! <sup>(2)</sup>

Ett stort tack till mina kära vänner där ute i verkligheten, gamla och nya! Tack för att ni finns oavsett hur mycket tid vi hinner umgås. Och för ert stöd i med och motgång. Tack till mina svärföräldrar med respektive samt till Fredrik & Linnéa och Haues & Lotta för sköna stunder i ert sällskap och för att ni försöker vara intresserade av vad jag gör. Tack till mina släktingar för att ni är så härliga allihop vilket gör livet lättare. Främst ett stort tack till mormor för dina förböner, och jag vill också nämna morfar som jag önskar jag fått diskutera forskning med. Massa tack till min underbara familj! Mamma och pappa, ni är världens bästa föräldrar! Heidi, Thomas, Mathilda, Esther; min kära syster med härliga familj. Tack syrran för inspiration i dina bilder och texter. Tack Thomas för intressanta jobb-samtal och urflippade knasigheter. Tack Mathilda och Esther för att ni är två supergoa ungar! Älskar att vara er monster-moster. Johannes & Co, Stefan & Co, ni är för goa! Livet blir mer intressant med er i familjen <sup>(3)</sup>. Tack hela familjen för att ni håller kvar mig i verkligheten! Jag älskar er!

Till slut vill jag tacka min fantastiska make Martin. Du är min bästa vän och bättre hälft! Jag hade aldrig löst detta utan dig. Det finns inte ord för hur mycket jag älskar dig. Tack för att du tagit hand om allt hemma så att jag bara kunnat jobba och träna. Tack för allt ditt tålamod. Tack för att du älskar mig. TACK!

## REFERENCES

- 1. Aulton, M.E., *Aulton's Pharmaceutics: The design and manufacture of medicines*. 3 ed. 2007: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier.
- 2. Allen, L.V., N.G. Popovich, and H.C. Ansel, *Ansel's Pharmaceutical dosage forms and drug delivery systems*. 9 ed. 2005: Wolters Kluwer, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 3. Archer, D.F., et al., *The impact of improved compliance with a weekly contraceptive transdermal system (Ortho Evra*®) *on contraceptive efficacy.* Contraception, 2004. **69**(3): p. 189-195.
- 4. Cramer, M.P. and S.R. Saks, *Translating safety, efficacy and compliance into economic value for controlled release dosage forms*. PharmacoEconomics, 1994. **5**(6): p. 482-504.
- 5. Kornick, C.A., et al., *Benefit-risk assessment of transdermal fentanyl for the treatment of chronic pain.* General Review, 2003. **26**(13): p. 951-973.
- 6. Yang, S.I., et al., *Transdermal eperisone elicits more potent and longerlasting muscle relaxation than oral eperisone.* Pharmacology, 2004. **71**(3): p. 150-156.
- 7. Larsen, R.H.N., Flemming; Sorensen, Jens A.; Nielsen, Jesper B., *Dermal penetration of fentanyl: Inter- and intraindividual variations*. Pharmacology & Toxicology, 2003. **93**(5): p. 244-248.
- 8. Shen, F., Q. Su, and W. Zhou, *Research and development of pharmaceutical salts*. Yaoxue Jinzhan, 2012. **36**(4): p. 151-157.
- 9. Godin, B. and E. Touitou, *Transdermal skin delivery: predictions for humans from in vivo, ex vivo and animal models*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2007. **59**: p. 1152-1161.
- 10. Rorsman, H., A. Björneberg, and A. Vahlquist, *Hudens struktur och funktion*, in *Dermatologi Venerologi*. 2000, Studentlitteratur: Lund. p. 13-31.
- 11. Paoli, J., et al. *Multiphoton Laser Scanning Microscopy on Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer: Morphologic Features for Future Non-Invasive Diagnostics.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2007. **8**, 1-8.
- 12. Elias, P.M., *Epidermal lipids, barrier function, and desquamation.* J. Invest. Dermatol., 1983. **80**(Suppl.): p. 44-9.
- 13. Weerheim, A. and M. Ponec, *Determination of stratum corneum lipid profile* by tape stripping in combination with high-performance thin-layer chromatography. Arch. Dermatol. Res., 2001. **293**(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 191-199.
- 14. Aburai, K., et al., *Physicochemical Analysis of Liposome iViembranes Consisting of Model Lipids in the Stratum Corneum.* Journal of Oleo Science, 2011. **60**(4): p. 197-202.
- 15. Iwai, I., et al., *The Human Skin Barrier Is Organized as Stacked Bilayers of Fully Extended Ceramides with Cholesterol Molecules Associated with the Ceramide Sphingoid Moiety.* J. Invest. Dermatol., 2012. **132**(9): p. 2215-2225.

- 16. Plasencia, I., L. Norlen, and L.A. Bagatolli, *Direct visualization of lipid domains in human skin stratum corneum's lipid membranes: effect of pH and temperature*. Biophys. J., 2007. **93**(9): p. 3142-3155.
- 17. Bouwstra, J.A. and P.L. Honeywell-Nguyen, *Drug delivery across the skin barrier: Role of lipids and developments of nanoparticles for drug delivery* in *Nanotechnology for improving drug delivery across biological barriers.* 2008, Bulletin technique gattefosse. p. 59-65.
- 18. Menon, G.K., *New insights into skin structure: scratching the surface.* Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2002. **54**: p. 3-17.
- 19. Elias, P.M., *Structure and Function of the Stratum Corneum Extracellular Matrix.* J Invest Dermatol, 2012. **132**(9): p. 2131-2133.
- Caccetta, R., et al., *Epidermal penetration of a therapeutic peptide by lipid conjugation; Stereo-selective peptide availability of a topical diastereomeric lipopeptide*. International Journal of Peptide Research and Therapeutics, 2006. 12(3): p. 327-333.
- 21. Masukawa, Y., et al., *Comprehensive quantification of ceramide species in human stratum corneum.* J Lipid Res, 2009. **50**(8): p. 1708-19.
- 22. Landmann, L., *Epidermal permeability barrier: transformation of lamellar granule-disks into intercellular sheets by a membrane-fusion process, a freeze-fracture study.* The Journal of investigative dermatology 1986. **87**(2): p. 202-209.
- 23. White, S.H., D. Mirejovsky, and G.I. King, *Structure of lamellar lipid domains and corneocyte envelopes of murine stratum corneum. An x-ray diffraction study.* Biochemistry, 1988. **27**(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 3725-32.
- 24. Norlén, L., *Skin Barrier Structure and Function: The Single Gel Phase Model.* The journal of investigative dermatology, 2001. **117**(4): p. 830-836.
- 25. Forslind, B., *A domain mosaic model of the skin barrier*. Acta Derm Venereol, 1994. **74**(Copyright (C) 2011 U.S. National Library of Medicine.): p. 1-6.
- 26. Moore, D.J., M.E. Rerek, and R. Mendelsohn, *Lipid domains and orthorhombic phases in model stratum corneum: evidence from Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy studies.* Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 1997. **231**: p. 797-801.
- 27. Forslind, B., et al., *A novel approach to the understanding of human skin barrier function.* Journal of Dermatological Science, 1997. **14**: p. 115-125.
- 28. Bouwstra, J.A., et al., *Role of ceramide 1 in the molecular organization of the stratum corneum lipids*. J. Lipid Res., 1998. **39**(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 186-196.
- Silva, C.L., et al., Stratum corneum hydration: Phase transformations and mobility in stratum corneum, extracted lipids and isolated corneocytes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Biomembr., 2007. 1768(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 2647-2659.
- 30. Guldbrand, S., et al., *Two-photon fluorescence correlation spectroscopy as a tool for measuring molecular diffusion within human skin.* Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm., 2013. **84**(2): p. 430-436.
- 31. Bjoerklund, S., et al., *Skin Membrane Electrical Impedance Properties under the Influence of a Varying Water Gradient*. Biophys. J., 2013. **104**(12): p. 2639-2650.
- 32. Wertz, P.W., *Lipids and barrier function of the skin*. Acta Derm Venereol, 2000. **Supp 208**: p. 7-11.

- 33. Yu, B., et al., *In vitro visualization an quantification of oleic acid induced changes in transdermal transport using two-photon fluorescence microscopy.* the journal of investigative dermatology, 2001. **117**: p. 16-25.
- Sparr, E. and H. Wennerstrom, *Responding phospholipid membranes* interplay between hydration and permeability. Biophys. J., 2001.
   81(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 1014-1028.
- 35. Roberts, D.W., et al., *What determines skin sensitization potency-myths, maybes and realities. Part 1. The 500 molecular weight cut-off.* Contact Dermatitis, 2013. **68**(1): p. 32-41.
- 36. Bos, J.D. and M.M.H.M. Meinardi, *The 500 Dalton rule for the skin penetration of chemical compounds and drugs*. Experimental Dermatology, 2000. **9**(3): p. 165-169.
- 37. Goldsmith, L.A., Propylene glycol. Inter J Dermatol 1978. 17: p. 703-705.
- 38. Bender, J., et al., *Lipid cubic phases in topical drug delivery: Visualization of skin distribution using two-photon microscopy*. Journal of Controlled Release, 2008. **129**: p. 163-169.
- 39. Moss, G.P., et al., *Quantitative structure–permeability relationships (QSPRs)* for percutaneous absorption. Toxicology in Vitro, 2002. **16**(3): p. 299-317.
- 40. Cevc, G. and U. Vierl, *Nanotechnology and the transdermal route A state of the art review and critical appraisal.* Journal of Controlled Release, 2010. **141**: p. 277-299.
- 41. Prow, T.W., et al., *Nanoparticles and microparticles for skin drug delivery*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2011. **63**: p. 470-491.
- 42. Brown, M.B., et al., *Dermal and transdermal drug delivery systems: current and future prospects*. Taylor and Francis, 2006. **13**: p. 175-187.
- 43. Lötberg, K., *Hudens molekylgåta löst.* Kemivärlden Biotech med Kemisk Tidskrift, 2012(6): p. 28-29.
- 44. Marekov, L.N. and P.M. Steinert, *Ceramides are bound to structural proteins of the human foreskin epidermal cornified cell envelope*. J. Biol. Chem., 1998.
  273(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 17763-17770.
- 45. Potts, R.O. and M.L. Francoeur, *Lipid biophysics of water-loss through he skin*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1990. **87**(10): p. 3871-3873.
- 46. Björklund, S., et al., *A water gradient can be used to regulate drug transport across skin.* Journal of Controlled Release, 2010. **143**: p. 191–200.
- 47. Al-Amoudi, A., J. Dubochet, and L. Norlen, *Nanostructure of the epidermal extracellular space as observed by cryo-electron microscopy of vitreous sections of human skin.* J. Invest. Dermatol., 2005. **124**(4): p. 764-777.
- 48. Lauer, A.C., et al., *Targeted delivery to the pilosebaceous unit via liposomes*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 1996. **18**(3): p. 311-324.
- 49. Lodén, M., *Ren, mjuk och vacker kemi och funktion hos kosmetika*. 2 ed. 2008, Apotekarsociteten: Andreas Furängen. 224.
- 50. Mueller, R.H., et al., *Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) in cosmetic dermal products*. Adv. Drug Delivery Rev., 2007. **59**(6): p. 522-530.
- 51. Geddes, L.A., *A short history of the electrical stimulation of excitable tissue. Including electrotherapeutic applications.* The Physiologist, 1984. **27**: p. 1-47.
- 52. Kalia, Y.N., et al., *Iontophoretic drug delivery*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2004. **56**(5): p. 619-658.

- 53. Prausnitz, M.R., *Microneedles for transdermal drug delivery*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2004. **56**(5): p. 581-587.
- 54. Mitragotri, S., A theoretical analysis of permeation of small hydrophobic solutes across the stratum corneum based scaled particle theory Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2001. **91**(3): p. 744-752.
- 55. Kendall, M.A.F., *Needle-Free Vaccine Injection*, in *Drug Delivery*, M. Schäfer-Korting, Editor. 2010, Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 193-219.
- 56. Bhowmik, D., et al., *Recent advances in transdermal drug delivery system* International Journal of PharmTech Research, 2010. **2**(1): p. 68-77.
- 57. Grossberg, G.T., C. Sadowsky, and J.T. Olin, *Rivastigmine transdermal* system for the treatment of mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. International Journal of Clinical Practice, 2010. **64**(5): p. 651-660.
- 58. Wüllner, U., et al., *Transdermal rotigotine for the perioperative management of Parkinson's disease*. Journal of Neural Transmission, 2010. **117**(7): p. 855-859.
- 59. Donnelly, R.F., S.T.R. Raj, and A.D. Woolfson, *Microneedle-based drug delivery systems: Microfabrication, drug delivery, and safety.* Drug Delivery, 2010. **17**(4): p. 187-207.
- 60. Geraghty, P.B., et al., An investigation of the parameters influencing the bioadhesive properties of Myverol 18–99/water gels. Biomaterials, 1997. 18(1): p. 63-67.
- 61. Bender, J., et al., *Lipid cubic phases for improved topical drug delivery in photodynamic therapy.* Journal of Controlled Release, 2005. **106**: p. 350-360.
- 62. Lopes, L.B., et al., *Liquid crystalline phases of monoolein and water for topical delivery of cyclosporin A: Characterization and study of in vitro and in vivo delivery*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2006. **63**: p. 146-155.
- 63. Dong, Y.D., et al., *Bulk and dispersed aqueous phase behavior of phytantriol: Effect of vitamin E acetate and F127 polymer on liquid crystal nanostructure.* Langmuir, 2006. **22**(23): p. 9512-9518.
- 64. Lopes, L.B., et al., *Reverse hexagonal phase nanodispersion of monoolein and oleic acid for topical delivery of peptides: in vitro and in vivo skin penetration of cyclosporin A.* Pharmaceutical Research, 2006. **23**(6): p. 1332-1342.
- 65. Yariv, D., et al., *In vitro permeation of diclofenac salts from lyotropic liquid crystalline systems*. Colloids Surf., B, 2010. **78**(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 185-192.
- 66. Lopes, L.B., J.H. Collett, and M. Bentley, *Topical delivery of cyclosporin A: an in vitro study using monoolein as a penetration enhancer*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2005. **60**(1): p. 25-30.
- 67. Lopes, L.B., F.F.F. Speretta, and M.V.L.B. Bentley, *Enhancement of skin penetration of vitamin K using monoolein-based liquid crystalline systems*. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2007. **32**(3): p. 209-215.
- 68. Cevc, G., *Lipid vesicles and other colloids as drug carriers on the skin.* Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2004. **56**: p. 675-711.
- 69. Foldvari, M., et al., *Topical Delivery of Interferon Alpha by Biphasic Vesicles; Evidence for a Novel Nanopathway across the stratum Corneum*. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 2010. **7**(3): p. 751-762.
- 70. Guo, C., et al., *Lyotropic liquid crystal systems in drug delivery*. Drug Discovery Today, 2010. **15**: p. 1032-1040.

- 71. Kirjavainen, M., et al., *Interaction of liposomes with human skin in vitro The influence of lipid composition and structure*. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism, 1996. **1304**(3): p. 179-189.
- 72. Michel, C., et al., *Effect of liposomes on percutaneous penetration of lipophilic materials*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1992. **84**(2): p. 93-105.
- 73. Valenta, C., M. Wanka, and J. Heidlas, *Evaluation of novel soya-lecithin formulations for dermal use containing ketoprofen as a model drug.* Journal of controlled release, 2000. **63**(1–2): p. 165-173.
- 74. Agarwal, R., O.P. Katare, and S.P. Vyas, *Preparation and in vitro evaluation of liposomal/niosomal delivery systems for antipsoriatic drug dithranol.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2001. **228**(1-2): p. 43-52.
- 75. Foldvari, M., et al., *Dermal and transdermal delivery of protein pharmaceuticals: lipid-based delivery systems for interferon alpha.* Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry, 1999. **30**: p. 129-137.
- 76. Cevc, G., et al., *The skin: a pathway for systemic treatment with patches and lipid-based agent carriers.* Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 1996. **18**: p. 349-378.
- 77. Schäfer-Korting, M., W. Mehnert, and H.C. Korting, *Lipid nanoparticles for improved topical application of drugs for skin diseases*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2007. **59**: p. 427-443.
- 78. Cevc, G. and G. Blume, *Lipid vesicles penetrate into intact skin owing to the transdermal osmotic gradients and hydration force*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1992. **1104**: p. 226-232.
- 79. Cevc, G., *Transfersomes, liposomes and other lipid suspensions on the skin: Permeation enhancement, vesicle penetration, and transdermal drug delivery.* Critical Reviews in Therapeutic Drug Carrier Systems, 1996. **13**(3-4): p. 257-388.
- 80. Guo, J.X., Q.N. Ping, and L. Zhang, *Transdermal delivery of insulin in mice by using lecithin vesicles as a carrier*. Drug Delivery, 2000. **7**(2): p. 113-116.
- 81. Cevc, G., A. Schätzlein, and H. Richardsen, *Ultradeformable lipid vesicles* can penetrate the skin and other semi-permeable barriers unfragmented. Evidence from double label CLSM experiments and direct size measurements. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes, 2002. **1564**(1): p. 21-30.
- 82. Benson, H.A.E. and S. Namjoshi, *Proteins and peptides: Strategies for delivery to and across skin.* Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2007: p. 1-20.
- 83. Brewer, J., et al., *Spatially resolved two-color diffusion measurements in human skin applied to transdermal liposome penetration*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2013. **133**: p. 1260-1268.
- 84. Santos-Magalhães, N.S. and V.C.F. Mosqueira, *Nanotechnology applied to the treatment of malaria*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2010. **62**(4-5): p. 560-575.
- 85. Drabu, S., et al., *Nanotechnology: An introduction to future drug delivery system.* J. Chem. Pharm. Res, 2010. **2**(1): p. 171-179.
- 86. Gupta, P.N., et al., *Non-invasive vaccine delivery in transfersomes, niosomes and liposomes: a comparative study.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2005. **293**: p. 73-82.
- 87. Walker, R.B. and E.W. Smith, *The role of percutaneous penetration enhancers*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 1996. **18**: p. 295-301.

- 88. Williams, A.C. and B.W. Barry, *Penetration enhancers*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2004. **56**: p. 603-618.
- 89. Smyth, H.F., et al, *Range finding toxicity data: List VI*. Industrial Hygiene Journal 1962. March-April: p. 95-97.
- 90. Frankenfeld, J.W., et al, *Preservation of grain with aliphatic 1,3-diols and their esters.* J Agric Food Chem 1975. **23**: p. 418-425.
- 91. Faergemann, J. and T. Fredriksson, *The antimycotic activity in vitro of five diols*. Sabouraudia, 1980. **18**: p. 287-293.
- 92. Rowe, V.K. and M.A. Wolf, *Glycols; Table 50.1 Physical and chemical properties of common glycols (diols).* in *Patty's Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology (3rd ed.)*, C.G.a.C. FE, Editor. 1982, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: New York p. 3818-3819.
- 93. Barry, B.W., *Mode of action of penetration enhancers in human skin.* Journal of Controlled Release, 1987. **6**: p. 85-97.
- 94. Faergemann, J., T. Hedner, and P. Larsson, *The in vitro activity of pentane-*1,5-diol against aerobic bacteria. A new antimicrobial agent for topical usuage? Acta Dermato-Venereologica, 2005. **85**: p. 203-205.
- 95. Faergemann, J., et al., *Pentane-1,5-diol as a percutaneous absorption enhancer*. Arch Dermatol Res, 2005. **297**: p. 261–265.
- 96. Sanghvi, R., et al., Solubility improvement of drugs using N-methyl pyrrolidone. AAPS PharmSciTech, 2008. 9(2): p. 366-376.
- 97. Kranz, H. and R. Bodmeier, *Structure formation and characterization of injectable drug loaded biodegradable devices: In situ implants versus in situ microparticles.* European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2008. 34(2-3): p. 164-172.
- 98. Alonso, A., et al., *Water increases the fluidity of intercellular membranes of stratum corneum: correlation with water permeability, elastic, and electrical resistance properties.* J. Invest. Dermatol., 1996. **106**(5): p. 1058-1063.
- 99. Sparr, E., et al., *Diffusional transport in responding lipid membranes*. Soft Matter, 2009. **5**(17): p. 3225-3233.
- Behne, M.J., et al., Neonatal development of the stratum corneum pH gradient: Localization and mechanisms leading to emergence of optimal barrier function. J. Invest. Dermatol., 2003. 120(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 998-1006.
- 101. Fontell, K., *Cubic phases in surfactant and surfactant-like lipid systems*. Colloid and Polymer Science, 1990. **268**(3): p. 264-285.
- 102. Lindblom, G. and L. Rilfors, *Cubic phases and isotropic structures formed by membrane-lipids - Possible biological relevance*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1989. **988**(2): p. 221-256.
- 103. Tresset, G., *The multiple faces of self-assembled lipidic systems* PMC Biophysics, 2009. **2**(3): p. 1-25.
- 104. Landau, E.M. and P.L. Luisi, Lipidic cubic phases as transparent, rigid matrices for the direct spectroscopic study of immobilized membrane proteins. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1993. 115: p. 2102-2106.
- 105. Libster, D., A. Aserin, and N. Garti, *Interactions of biomacromolecules with reverse hexagonal liquid crystals: Drug delivery and crystallization applications.* Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 2011. **356**: p. 375-386.
- 106. Kocherbitov, V., *Driving Forces of Phase Transitions in Surfactant and Lipid Systems*. J. Phys. Chem. B, 2005. **109**: p. 6430-6435.

- 107. Maibaum, L., A.R. Dinner, and D. Chandler, *Micelle formation and the hydrophobic effect*. Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 2004. **108**(21): p. 6778-6781.
- 108. Ericsson, B., et al., Cubic Phases as Delivery Systems for Peptide Drugs, in Polymeric Drugs and Drug Delivery Systems. 1991. p. 251-265.
- 109. Shah, J.C., Y. Sadhale, and D.M. Chilukuri, *Cubic phase gels as drug delivery systems*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2001. **47**: p. 229-250.
- 110. Yaghmur, A. and O. Glatter, *Characterization and potential applications of nanostructured aqueous dispersions*. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 2008. **147-148**(0): p. 333-342.
- 111. Angelov, B., et al., *Detailed structure of diamond-type lipid cubic nanoparticles*. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2006. **128**: p. 5813-5817.
- 112. Luzzati, V. and F. Husson, *Structure of the liquid-crystalline phases of lipid-water systems*. J. Cell Biol., 1962. **12**(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 207-19.
- 113. Lutton, E.S., *Phase behavior of aqueous systems of monoglycerides*. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 1965. **42**(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 1068-70.
- Fontell, K., L. Mandell, and P. Ekwall, *Isotropic mesophases in systems containing amphiphilic compounds*. Acta Chem. Scand., 1968. 22(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 3209-23.
- 115. Larsson, K., et al., *Lipids:Structure, Physical Properties and Functionality*. Vol. 19. 2006, Bridgwater: The oily press.
- 116. Engström, S., T.P. Norden, and H. Nyquist, *Cubic phases for studies of drug partition into lipid bilayers*. Eur J Pharm Sci, 1999. **8**(4): p. 243-254.
- 117. Engström, S., P. Wadsten-Hendrichsen, and B. Hernius, *Cubic, sponge and lamellar phases in the glyceryl monooleyl ether- propylene glycol- water system.* Langmuir, 2007. 23: p. 10020-10025.
- 118. Hyde, S.T., et al., *A cubic structure consisting of a lipid bilayer forming an infinite periodic minimum surface of the gyroid type in the glycerolmonooleat-water system.* Z. Kristallogr., 1984. **168**: p. 213-219.
- Deng, Y., et al., Cubic membrane structure in amoeba (Chaos carolinensis) mitochondria determined by electron microscopic tomography. J. Struct. Biol., 1999. 127(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 231-239.
- Giorgione, J.R., Z. Huang, and R.M. Epand, *Increased activationof protein kinase c with cubic phase lipid compared with liposomes*. Biochemistry, 1998. 37: p. 2384-2392.
- Munro, S., *Lipid rafts: Elusive or illusive?* Cell (Cambridge, MA, U. S.), 2003. 115(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 377-388.
- 122. Allen, J.A., R.A. Halverson-Tamboli, and M.M. Rasenick, *Lipid raft microdomains and neurotransmitter signalling*. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2007. **8**(2): p. 128-140.
- 123. Almsherqi, Z.A., et al., *Chapter 6 Cubic Membranes: The Missing Dimension* of Cell Membrane Organization, in International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, W.J. Kwang, Editor. 2009, Academic Press. p. 275-342.

- 124. Iwai, I., et al., *The Human Skin Barrier Is Organized as Stacked Bilayers of Fully Extended Ceramides with Cholesterol Molecules Associated with the Ceramide Sphingoid Moiety.* J Invest Dermatol, 2012.
- 125. Norlén, L., *Skin barrier formation: The membrane folding model* The journal of investigative dermatology, 2001. **117**(4): p. 823-829.
- 126. Longer, M., P. Tyle, and J.W. Mauger, *A cubic phase oral drug delivery* system for controlled release of AG337. Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm., 1996. **22**: p. 603-608.
- 127. Patton, J.S. and M.C. Carey, *Watching fat digestion*. Science, 1979. 204: p. 145-148.
- 128. Popescu, G., et al., Liquid Crystalline Phases and Their Dispersions in Aqueous Mixtures of Glycerol Monooleate and Glyceryl Monooleyl Ether. Langmuir, 2007. 23: p. 496-503.
- 129. Barauskas, J., et al., *Synthesis and aqueous phase behaviour of 1-glyceryl monooleyl ether*. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2005. **41**: p. 49-53.
- 130. Baez, J. This Week's Finds in Mathematical Physics (Week 225). 2005 [cited 2013 2013-05-01].
- 131. Bray, H.L. *Black Holes, Minimal Surfaces, and Differential Geometry.* The Second Duke Mathematics Journal and International Mathematics Research Notices Conference 2001 [cited 2013 2013-05-01].
- 132. Geraghty, P.B., et al., *The in vitro release of some antimuscarinic drugs from monoolein/water lyotropic liquid crystalline gels.* Pharmaceutical Research, 1996. **13**(8): p. 1265-1271.
- 133. Lee, J. and I.W. Kellaway, *Buccal permeation of D-Ala(2), D-Leu(5)* enkephalin from liquid crystalline phases of glyceryl monooleate. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2000. **195**(1-2): p. 35-38.
- 134. Johnsson, M., et al., *Physicochemical and drug delivery aspects of lipid-based liquid crystalline nanoparticles: A case study of intravenously administered propofol.* Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 2006. **6**(9-10): p. 3017-3024.
- 135. Lee, K.W.Y., et al., *Nanostructure of liquid crystalline matrix determines in vitro sustained release and in vivo oral absorption kinetics for hydrophilic model drugs*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2009. **365**(1-2): p. 190-199.
- 136. Carvalho, F.C., et al., *Surfactant systems for nasal zidovudine delivery: structural, rheological and mucoadhesive properties.* Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 2010. **62**(4): p. 430-439.
- 137. Hosmer, J.M., et al., *Influence of internal structure and composition of liquid crystalline phases on topical delivery of paclitaxel.* J. Pharm. Sci., 2011.
  100(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 1444-1455.
- 138. Norling, T., et al., Formulation of a drug delivery system based on a mixture of monoglycerides and triglycerides for use in the treatment of periodontal disease. J Clin Periodontol, 1992. **19**: p. 687-692.
- 139. Nylander, T., et al., *A study of entrapped enzyme stability and substrate diffusion in a monoglyceride-based cubic liquid crystalline phase.* Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 1996. **114**: p. 311-320.

- 140. McLoughlin, D., M. Imperor-Clerc, and D. Langevin, A new cubic phase containing DNA and a surfactant. ChemPhysChem, 2004. 5(10): p. 1619-1623.
- 141. Clogston, J. and M. Caffrey, *Controlling release from the lipidic cubic phase*. *Amino acids, peptides, proteins and nucleic acids*. Journal of controlled release, 2005. **107**: p. 97-111.
- 142. Lara, M.G., M.V.L.B. Bentley, and J.H. Collett, *In vitro drug release mechanism and drug loading studies of cubic phase gels*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2005. **293**: p. 241-250.
- 143. Kraineva, J., et al., Incorporation of a-chymotrypsin into the 3D channels of bicontinuous cubic lipid mesophases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 2006.
   1764: p. 424 433.
- 144. Kraineva, J., V. Smirnovas, and R. Winter, *Effects of lipid confinement on insulin stability and amyliod formation*. Langmuir, 2007. 23: p. 7118-7126.
- 145. Angelova, A., et al., *Dynamic control of nanofluidic channels in protein drug delivery vehicles* J. Drug Del Sci. Tech., 2008. **18**(1): p. 4I-45.
- 146. Dong, Y.D., et al., *Impurities in commercial phytantriol significantly alter its lyotropic liquid-crystalline phase behavior*. Langmuir, 2008. **24**(13): p. 6998-7003.
- 147. Fong, W.K., T. Hanley, and B.J. Boyd, *Stimuli responsive liquid crystals provide 'on-demand' drug delivery in vitro and in vivo.* J Control Release, 2009. **135**: p. 218-226.
- 148. Kwon, T.K. and J.C. Kim, *In vitro skin permeation of monoolein nanoparticles containing hydroxypropyl b-cyclodextrin/minoxidil complex*. Int J Pharm, 2010. **392**: p. 268-273.
- 149. Engstrom, S. and L. Engstrom, *Phase-behavior of the lidocaine-monoolein-water system*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1992. **79**(2-3): p. 113-122.
- 150. Razumas, V., et al., A cubic monoolein-cytochrome c-water phase: x-ray diffraction, FT-IR, differential scanning calorimetric and electrochemical studies. J. Phys. Chem., 1996. **100**: p. 11766-11774.
- 151. Zheng, L.Q., et al., *Component effects on the phase behavior of monoglyceride-water mixtures studied by FT-IR and X-ray diffraction*. Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology, 2003. **24**(6): p. 773-778.
- 152. Gulik-Krzywicki, T., et al., Interactions of Proteins and Lipids: Structure and Polymorphism of Protein-Lipid-Water Phases. Nature, 1969. **223**(5211): p. 1116-1121.
- 153. Angelova, A., et al., *Self-Assembled Multicompartment Liquid Crystalline Lipid Carriers for Protein, Peptide, and Nucleic Acid Drug Delivery.* Accounts of Chemical Research, 2011. **44**(2): p. 147-156.
- 154. Sakharova, A.V., et al., *Mobility of Molecules and Diagram of the State of a Glyceryl Monooleate-Water System According to NMR Data*. Russian journal of physical chemistry A, 2011. **85**(4): p. 573-583.
- 155. Navarro, J., E.M. Landau, and K. Fahmy, *Receptor-dependent G-protein activation in lipidic cubic phase*. Biopolymers (Biospectroscopy), 2002. **67**: p. 167-177.
- 156. Eriksson, P.O. and G. Lindblom, *Lipid and water diffusion in bicontinuous cubic phases measured by NMR*. Biophysical Journal, 1993. **64**(1): p. 129-136.

- 157. Sadhale, Y. and J.C. Shah, *Biological activity of insulin in GMO gels and the effect of agitation*. Int. J. Pharm., 1999. **191**(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 65-74.
- Landau, E.M. and J.P. Rosenbusch, *Lipidic cubic phases: a novel concept for the crystallization of membrane proteins*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996.
   93(25): p. 14532-5.
- 159. Rizwan, S.B., et al., *Bicontinuous cubic liquid crystals as sustained delivery* systems for peptides and proteins. Expert Opin Drug Deliv., 2010. 7(10): p. 1133-1144.
- 160. Clogston, J., et al., *Controlling release from the lipidic cubic phase by selective alkylation.* Journal of controlled release, 2005. **102**: p. 441-461.
- 161. Rizwan, S.B., et al., *Liquid Crystalline Systems of Phytantriol and Glyceryl Monooleate Containing a Hydrophilic Protein: Characterisation, Swelling and Release Kinetics.* Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2009. **98**(11): p. 4191-4204.
- 162. Shah, M.H. and A. Paradkar, *Cubic liquid crystalline glyceryl monooleate matrices for oral delivery of enzyme*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2005. **294**: p. 161-171.
- Efrat, R., et al., *Effect of Sodium Diclofenac Loads on Mesophase Components and Structure*. Langmuir, 2008. 24(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 7590-7595.
- 164. Ahmed, A.R., A. Dashevsky, and R. Bodmeier, Drug release from and sterilization of in situ cubic phase forming monoglyceride drug delivery systems. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm., 2010. 75(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 375-380.
- 165. Higuchi, W.I., *Diffusional models useful in biopharmaceutics drug release rate processes.* J. Pharm. Sci., 1967. **56**(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 315-24.
- 166. Higuchi, W.I., *Diffusional models useful in Biopharmaceutics*. Pharmaceutical sciences, 1967. **56**(3): p. 315-324.
- 167. Seddon, J.M., *An inverse face-centered cubic phase formed by diacylglycerol-phosphatidylcholine mixtures*. Biochemistry, 1990. **29**(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 7997-8002.
- Schwarz, U.S. and G. Gompper, *Stability of inverse bicontinuous cubic phases in lipid-water mixtures*. Los Alamos Natl. Lab., Prepr. Arch., Condens. Matter, 2000(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 1-4, arXiv:cond-mat/0009025.
- 169. Costa-Balogh, F.O., et al., *Drug release from lipid liquid crystalline phases: relation with phase behavior* Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 2010. **36**(4): p. 470-481.
- 170. Sanandaji, N., et al., *Comparison of oligonucleotide migration in a bicontinuous cubic phase of monoolein and water and in a fibrous agarose hydrogel.* Electrophoresis, 2006. **27**: p. 3007-3017.
- 171. Chang, C.-M. and R. Bodmeier, *Low viscosity monoglyceride-based drug delivery systems transforming into a highly viscous cubic phase*. Int. J. Pharm., 1998. 173(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 51-60.
- 172. Engstroem, S., et al., *A study of polar lipid drug carrier systems undergoing a thermoreversible lamellar-to-cubic phase transition*. Int. J. Pharm., 1992. **86**(2-3): p. 137-45.

- 173. Tiberg, F. and M. Johnsson, *Drug delivery applications of non-lamellar liquid crystalline phases and nanoparticles*. J. Drug Delivery Sci. Technol., 2011.
  21(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 101-109.
- 174. Tiberg, F. and F. Joabsson *Lipid liquid crystals for parenteral susteinedrelease applications: Combining ease of use and manufacturing with consistent drug release control.* 2010. <u>www.ondrugdelivery.com</u>, 9-13.
- Fong, W.-K., et al., *Plasmonic Nanorods Provide Reversible Control over Nanostructure of Self-Assembled Drug Delivery Materials*. Langmuir, 2010.
   **26**(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 6136-6139.
- 176. Czeslik, C., et al., *Temperature-dependent and pressure-dependent phase behavior of monoacylglycerides monoolein and monoelaidin*. Biophysical Journal, 1995. **68**(4): p. 1423-1429.
- Efrat, R., A. Aserin, and N. Garti, On structural transitions in a discontinuous micellar cubic phase loaded with sodium diclofenac. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 2008. 321(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 166-176.
- 178. Im, T.J., et al., *Effect of cubic liquid crystalline systems on skin localization of oregonin and hirsutanonol.* Biomol. Ther., 2008. **16**(3): p. 226-230.
- 179. Luo, M., Q. Shen, and J. Chen, *Transdermal delivery of paeonol using cubic gel and microemulsion gel.* Int. J. Nanomed., 2011. **6**: p. 1603-1610.
- 180. Han, I.H., et al., *Identification and Assessment of Permeability Enhancing Vehicles for Transdermal Delivery of Glucosamine Hydrochloride*. Arch Pharm Res, 2010. **33**(2): p. 293-299.
- Calzavara-Pinton, P., M. Venturini, and R. Sala, *Photodynamic therapy: update 2006, Part 2: clinical results.* J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 2007. 21: p. 439-451.
- 182. Horn, M., et al., *Topical methyl aminolevulinate photodynamic thherapy in patients with basal cell carcinoma prone to complications and poor cosmetic outcome with conventional treatment*. Br. J. Dermatol., 2003. **149**: p. 1242-1249.
- 183. Kaliszewski, M., et al., *Biological activity of 5-aminolevulinic acid and its methyl ester after storage under different conditions*. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 2007. **87**: p. 67-72.
- 184. McCarron, P.A., et al., *Stability of 5-aminolevulinic acid in novel non-aqueous gel and patch-type systems intended for topical application*. J. Pharm. Sci., 2005. **94**: p. 1756-1771.
- 185. Mak, V.H.W., R.O. Potts, and R.H. Guy, *Does hydration affect intercellular lipid organization in the stratum corneum*. Pharmaceutical Research, 1991. 8(8): p. 1064-1065.
- 186. Erdlenbruch, B., et al., Alkylglycerol opening of the blood-brain barrier to small and large fluorescence markers in normal and C6 glioma-bearing rats and isolated rat brain capillaries. British Journal of Pharmacology, 2003. 140: p. 1201-1210.
- 187. History of skin care. [cited 2013 2013-05-01].
- 188. Blanco-Davila, F., *Beauty and the body: the origins of cosmetics*. Plast Reconstr Surg, 2000. **105**(3): p. 1196-204.
- 189. Jacobovici, S., *Bilical beauty secrets*, in *The Naked Archeaologist*, The History Channel: Canada. p. 2005-present.

- 190. Roe, R.J., *Methods of x-ray scattering in polymer science*. Topics in polymer science, ed. J.E. Mark. 2000, New York: Oxford University Press.
- 191. Bragg, W.H., X-Rays and Crystals. Nature (London, U. K.), 1913. 90: p. 219.
- 192. Atkins, P.W., *Physical chemistry*. 6 ed. 1998: oxford university press. 2.
- 193. Zumdahl, S.T., *Chemical principles*. 3 ed. 1998, Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- 194. Hornak, J.P., *The Basics of NMR*, 1997, Rochester Institute of Technology, Center for Imaging Science: <u>http://www.cis.rit.edu/htbooks/nmr/index.html</u>.
- 195. van der Molen, R.G., et al., *Tape stripping of human stratum corneum yields cell layers that originate from various depths because of furrows in the skin.* Arch Dermatol Res, 1997. **289**(9): p. 514-8.
- 196. Russell, W.M.S. and R.L. Burch, *The principles of humane experimental technique*. 1959, London: Methuen.
- 197. Chow, P.K.K., *Using animal modles in biomedical research*. 2008, Singapore: World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.
- 198. Helmchen, F. and W. Denk, *Deep tissue two-photon microscopy*. Nature Methods, 2005. **2**(12): p. 932-40.
- 199. So, P.T.C., et al., *Two-photon excitation fluorescence microscopy*. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng., 2000. **2**: p. 399-429.
- 200. Koenig, K., et al., *Applications of multiphoton tomographs and femtosecond laser nanoprocessing microscopes in drug delivery research*. Adv. Drug Delivery Rev., 2011. **63**(4-5): p. 388-404.
- 201. Konig, K., *Multiphoton microscopy in life sciences*. J. Microsc. (Oxford), 2000. **200**(2): p. 83-104.
- 202. Konig, K. and I. Riemann, *High-resolution multiphoton tomography of human skin with subcellular spatial resolution and picosecond time resolution*. J Biomed Opt, 2003. **8**(3): p. 432-9.
- 203. Masters, B.R., P.T. So, and E. Gratton, *Multiphoton excitation microscopy of in vivo human skin. Functional and morphological optical biopsy based on three-dimensional imaging, lifetime measurements and fluorescence spectroscopy.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1998. **838**: p. 58-67.
- 204. Masters, B.R., P.T.C. So, and E. Gratton, *Multiphoton excitation fluorescence microscopy and spectroscopy of in vivo human skin*. Biophys. J., 1997. 72(6): p. 2405-2412.
- 205. Wang, B.G., K. König, and K.J. Halbhuber, *Two-photon microscopy of deep intravital tissues and its merits in clinical research*. Journal of Microscopy, 2010. **238**: p. 1-20.
- Kim, K.H., et al., Two-photon fluorescence and confocal reflected light imaging of thick tissue structures. Proc. SPIE-Int. Soc. Opt. Eng., 1998.
   3260(Optical Investigations of Cells in Vitro and in Vivo): p. 46-57.
- 207. Guldbrand, S., et al., *Two-photon fluorescence correlation spectroscopy as a tool for measuring molecular diffusion within human skin.* Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.: p. Ahead of Print.
- 208. Yeh, A.T. and J. Hirshburg, *Molecular interactions of exogenous chemical agents with collagen implications for tissue optical clearing*. J. Biomed. Opt., 2006. **11**(1): p. 014003/1-014003/6.
- 209. Cheng, J.-X., A. Volkmer, and X.S. Xie, *Theoretical and experimental characterization of coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering microscopy*. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B, 2002. **19**(Copyright (C) 2012 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 1363-1375.

- 210. Wang, H., et al., *Coherent anti-stokes Raman scattering imaging of axonal myelin in live spinal tissues*. Biophys. J., 2005. **89**(1): p. 581-591.
- 211. El-Diasty, F., Coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering: Spectroscopy and microscopy. Vibrational Spectroscopy, 2011. 55: p. 1-37.
- 212. König, K., et al., *Optical skin biopsies by clinical CARS and multiphoton fluorescence/SHG tomography.* Laser Phys. Lett., 2011. **8**(6): p. 465-468.
- 213. Chin, P., *Luminescent Properties of Semiconductor Nanocrystals*, 2008, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven.
- 214. Weng, J. and J. Ren, *Luminescent quantum dots: a very attractive and promising tool in biomedicine*. Curr Med Chem, 2006. **13**(8): p. 897-909.
- 215. Link, S. and M.A. El-Sayed, *Shape and size dependence of radiative, nonradiative and photothermal properties of gold nanocrystals.* International Reviews in Physical Chemistry, 2000. **19**(3): p. 409-453.
- 216. Nagesha, D., et al., *In vitro imaging of embryonic stem cells using multiphoton luminescence of gold nanoparticles.* Int. J. Nanomed., 2007. **2**(4): p. 813-819.
- 217. Guldbrand, S., et al., *Multiphoton induced luminescence from 10 nm gold nanoparticles – the effect of interparticle distance and aggregation.* manuscript, 2013.
- 218. Patterson, S.D. and R.H. Aebersold, *Proteomics: the first decade and beyond*. Nat Genet, 2003. **33 Suppl**: p. 311-23.
- 219. Brzeski, H., et al., Albumin depletion method for improved plasma glycoprotein analysis by two-dimensional difference gel electrophoresis. BioTechniques, 2003. **35**(6): p. 1128-1130,1132.
- 220. Monti, M., et al., *Puzzle of protein complexes in vivo: a present and future challenge for functional proteomics.* Expert Rev. Proteomics, 2009. **6**(2): p. 159-169.
- Wadsten-Hindrichsen, P., et al., Aqueous self-assembly of phytantriol in ternary systems: Effect of monoolein, distearoylphosphatidylglycerol and three water-miscible solvents. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science., 2007. 315: p. 710-713.
- 222. Dancik, Y., et al., *Convective transport of highly plasma protein bound drugs facilitates direct penetration into deep tissues after topical application*. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 2012. **73**(4): p. 564-578.
- 223. De, J.W.H. and P.J.A. Borm, *Drug delivery and nanoparticles: applications and hazards*. Int. J. Nanomed., 2008. **3**(2): p. 133-149.
- 224. Amoozgar, Z. and Y. Yeo, *Recent advances in stealth coating of nanoparticle drug delivery systems*. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol., 2012. **4**(2): p. 219-233.
- 225. Medina, O.P., et al., Optimizing tumor targeting of the lipophilic EGFRbinding radiotracer SKI 243 using a liposomal nanoparticle delivery system. J. Controlled Release, 2011. 149(3): p. 292-298.
- 226. Semple, S.C., A. Chonn, and P.R. Cullis, *Interactions of liposomes and lipidbased carrier systems with blood proteins: Relation to clearance behavior in vivo.* Adv. Drug Delivery Rev., 1998. **32**(1,2): p. 3-17.
- 227. Moghimi, S.M., A.C. Hunter, and J.C. Murray, *Long-circulating and target-specific nanoparticles: Theory to practice.* Pharmacol. Rev., 2001. **53**(2): p. 283-318.
- Enejder, A., et al., *Dual-CARS microscopy*. Proc. SPIE-Int. Soc. Opt. Eng., 2007. 6442(Copyright (C) 2011 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 64420G/1-64420G/8.

229. Enejder, A., C. Brackmann, and F. Svedberg, *Coherent anti-stokes raman* scattering microscopy of cellular lipid storage. IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron., 2010. **16**(3): p. 506-515.